
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

**** SMALL COURTROOM, SECOND FLOOR **** 

MONTICELLO, GEORGIA 

January 6, 2025 

6:00 p.m. 

*** The meeting will be live-streamed Via Facebook on the Jasper County Georgia Facebook Page. 

 

1. Call to Order (6:00 p.m.)                                  

NAME PRESENT ABSENT LATE ARRIVED 

DISTRICT 1 – SHEILA G. POUNDS     

DISTRICT 2 – BRUCE HENRY     

DISTRICT 3 – ROB ALEXANDER     

DISTRICT 4 – ASHER GRAY     

DISTRICT 5 - STEVEN LEDFORD     

  

 II.     Pledge of Allegiance –       

III.    Invocation – District 1       

 IV.    Approval of Agenda 

        

 V.      Consent Agenda –  

1.  Approval of Minutes: 

• Work Session Minutes- November 25, 2024 

• Regular Meeting Minutes- December 2, 2024 

 

2.   Check Register – Check #’s     72766-72985 

 

VI.   Public Hearings with Business Action 

Public Hearings are conducted to allow public comments on specific advertised issues such as rezoning, 

ordinances, policy development and other legislative actions to be considered by the County Commissioners. 

The Board of Commissioners will act on each item presented below after the public hearing.  

 

Public Hearing 1: Preliminary Plat 24-001, Lake Pines Subdivision off Landers Lane 

Business Item 1:  Preliminary Plat 24-001, Lake Pines Subdivision off Landers Lane 

 

Public Hearing 2: Land Division Plat off Hwy 212 W  

Business Item 2: Land Division Plat off Hwy 212 W  

 

Public Hearing 3: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, 

Section 119-383. -Walls, fences, and planting. Removing R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning and 

replacing with RES zoning. 

Business Item 3: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, 

Section 119-383. -Walls, fences, and planting. Removing R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning and 

replacing with RES zoning.  

 

Public Hearing 4: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, 

Section 119-391.- Required Buffer Areas. Removing RR, R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning and replacing with 

RES zoning. 

1



XIV. Executive Session 

 

 

Business Item 4: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, 

Section 119-391.- Required Buffer Areas. Removing RR, R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning and replacing with 

RES zoning. 

 

 

 

Presentation/Delegations allows scheduled speakers to address the Commission for not more than ten (10) 

minutes on specific topics or for recognition of citizens, county employees or other events by the 

Commissioners.  

 

Presentation 1: Recognition of Barbara Jo Cook’s Service to Jasper County 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Citizens Comments section of the Agenda allows citizens who sign up to address the Commission 

for not more than three (3) minutes on specific topics.   The County Attorney will keep time.  Please  

be courteous of the 3-minute time limit. Comments noted from citizens via the Jasper County FB Page. 

X. County Commissioner Items & Updates 

 

XI.   Regular Agenda  

Business Items: Appointments 

5. Appointment of Chairman 

6. Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

7. Appointment of County Attorney 

8. Appointment of County Clerk 

 

Business Items Continued: 

9. 2025 Hazard Mitigation Plan Update RFP Planning 

10. Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 

11. 2025 Alcohol License Renewals 

12. Jasper County Library Board Appointments – Azalea Regional Library 

13. Jasper County Department of Behavioral Health & Disabilities Region 2 Advisory Council 

Appointment 

14. Tax Levy Resolution for School System General Obligation Bonds 

15. Create Scenic Byway Commission 

16. Jasper County Employees Defined Benefit Plan Amendment and Resolution 

17. Jasper County Public Facilities Authority Board Appointment 

18. Jasper County Health Department Board Appointment 

19. HB 581 – Property and Sales Tax Reform 

20. Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings as Needed 

 

XII.   County Attorney Items 

XIII.   County Manager Update 

 

 

IX. Citizens Comments 

VII. Presentations/Delegations 

VIII. Prior Citizens Comments Follow-up 

2



Consultation with County attorney to discuss pending or potential litigation as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-

2(1); Discussion of the future acquisition of real estate as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-3(4); and discussion on 

employment, compensation, or periodic evaluation of county employees as provided in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(6)  

 

XV. Adjournment  

3



Consent Agenda – Item 1: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:  January 6, 2025 

 

Subject:  Approval of Minutes 

 

Summary: 

 

 

Minutes have been completed for the Jasper County Board of Commissioners: 

 

• Work Session Minutes- November 25, 2024 

• Regular Meeting Minutes- December 2, 2024 

 

 

Background: 

 

 

Cost:  $0 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

 

Approve minutes for:  

 

• Work Session Minutes- November 25, 2024 

• Regular Meeting Minutes- December 2, 2024 

4



                        JASPER COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                                                    Work Session 

                                         Monday, November 25, 2024 
                                                                                         

Chairman Bruce Henry called the meeting to order at 6 p.m.  

 

Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman; Steven Ledford, Vice Chair; Don Jernigan; Sheila Pounds and 

Asher Gray 

 

Staff: Mike Benton, County Manager, Sheila Jefferson, Clerk- Administrative Services Director, Larissa Ruark, 

Chief Accounting Officer and Doug Attaway Planning and Zoning Director. 

 

County Manager Mike Benton opened the meeting by reviewing the current county retirement plan and the new 

options put together by the retirement committee. Mr. Benton said Mr. David Bell from ACCG was in 

attendance and he could help answer questions. Mr. Benton went over the improvements recommended by the 

committee.  He said that the committee recommended 5% because it was believed that they would need to 

increase the employee contribution to make the plan more affordable. Mr. Benton said it is recommended that 

the employers put in 6.7% but are only required to contribute 5.9%. Chairman Henry asked why the county 

contribution isn’t 6.7% if that is the recommended amount. Mr. Benton said that part of the reason is because the 

audit shows 6% as a strong contribution. Mr. Bell said that the county's contribution is on the lower end. He said 

most employers contribute 11-14%. Mr. Benton said according to the ACCG Auditor the county retirement plan 

is in good shape so the county has stayed with the 6%. He said if the Commissioners keep the employee 

contribution at 3% and change the retirement plan to option 1A the county contribution would increase to 9.5% 

and option 1B would increase the county contribution to 12.3%. Mr. Benton said that county contribution would 

still be low compared to other counties with option 1A. He gave information for surrounding counties saying 

they are the competition for getting and keeping employees.  

 

Mr. Benton said the requested ROTH plan is available to employees it was just not adopted by the previous 

County Commissioners. Mr. Bell said it is fairly simple with no cost to the county because it is an optional plan 

offered to employees. He said they would need a resolution and an amendment signed by the Commissioners 

with the effective date. Chairman Henry asked if the resolution and amendment could be ready by the December 

2nd meeting. Mr. Bell said he would do his best. Mr. Benton said ACCG has over a hundred retirement options if 

the commissioners want to look at other options. Mr. Benton said they must decide on the amount of 

improvement, the multiplier, and if they will choose a defined benefits or defined contribution package. 

Commissioner Jernigan asked if they could offer both. Mr. Bell said it can be done but it is an administrative 

nightmare.  

 

Commissioner Gray said he thinks the county needs to choose option 1B because it rewards employees for time 

served. Mr. Benton said there is an additional cost to the county to add unreduced early retirement and an 

increased multiplier. Chairman Henry said they need to do away with some options saying  2A and 2B need to 

go away. Commissioner Gray said it seems no one is interested in the 401K plan so 3A, 3B, 4A, and 4B can be 

removed as well. Mr. Benton said the 457B would still be available to anyone who wanted to participate and 

would be improved to offer a ROTH option. Mr. Benton said they are now down to 1A and 1B so he will prepare 

the requested numbers and information for presentation at the December 2, meeting.  

 

Sheriff Donnie Pope asked to speak regarding the employee retirement. He said he wants the Commissioners to 

know that the county employees showed up for this meeting not to intimidate the Commissioners but because 

this is important to them. He said county employees are part of a team and they are the greatest resource the 

county has. He said they should invest in the employees to retain good employees. He said he is encouraged, and 

he wanted to let the Commissioners know he appreciates the work they have done on employee retirement. He 

said he has been pushing for four long years. He said he appreciates their time and what they are doing.  

 

5



Chairman Henry moved to a discussion of curbside trash pickup and other options. Mr. Benton said the current 

contract with Waste Management ends June 30th, 2025 and the current cost is $205.33. He said typically if they 

want to continue the curbside pickup they would need to start in January or February getting bids together and 

advertising. He said that would allow them to award the bid between February and March. Mr. Benton said 

Commissioner Ledford mentioned other options and needed some clarity and direction on the other options he 

has in mind. Commissioner Ledford said he would like to get the cost to open five convenient centers. He said he 

would like one per district. Commissioner Gray said if the county is going to have convenient centers they need 

to offer what other counties have and allow appliances, tires, and anything that residents need to dump. 

Commissioner Jernigan said he doesn’t have a truck so that would mean he has to put his garbage in his car and 

haul it away. Commissioner Ledford said he could do that or contract his trash service. Mr. Benton said there is a 

big difference between full-service convenience centers and household trash-only convenience centers. He said it 

would cost more and they would need enough land for each location. Commissioner Jernigan asked if the county 

owns land in all five districts or needs to purchase property to open convenient centers. Mr. Benton said he asked 

the Tax Assessor and she is checking. Commissioner Ledford said they would need to be open five days a week 

with an employee operating each location and Code Enforcement would have to ensure trash was not just 

dumped out everywhere when the gates were closed. Chairman Henry said they would have to install 24-hour 

surveillance cameras and they would need to be able to pick up car tags. Mr. Benton asked if it would be 

commercial or only residential. Commissioner Ledford said he would just go with residential.  Mr. Benton said 

he did check with Putnam County and they have eight with some full service and some household trash only. Mr. 

Benton said he with get information together but they will also have to gather bids for curbside as well. 

Commissioner Gray asked if the landfill would be used as a service center. Mr. Benton said they should. 

Commissioner Gray said that leaves four locations to figure out. Commissioner Ledford said at one time the 

county owned land on Jackson Lake Rd and had dumpsters located just passed Larry’s four-way. Mr. Benton 

said he would get the information together.  

 

Mr. Benton started a discussion for the 2026 Budget saying they are looking at a radical change in the way the 

budget process is done. He said one way is zero-based budgeting meaning everything would need to be 

presented and defined. He asked if this process would include each position in each department. Chairman Henry 

said he isn’t sure how it works but he would think payroll would remain the same and he doesn’t think the 

insurance would need to be changed. Chairman Henry asked Commissioner Gray what he was looking for when 

he requested to do the zero-based budgeting. Commissioner Gray said he was talking about looking at what is 

needed and what is not needed. Commissioner Ledford said they need to look at things like vehicles that the 

county isn’t using but still pay insurance on. Chief Finch said the county cannot legally drop the insurance on a 

vehicle they own he said they would have to get rid of the vehicle to remove the insurance. Mr. Benton said the 

county fully embraces the idea of getting rid of unused vehicles. Commissioner Ledford said it is time for 

another surplus sale. Chairman Henry recommended checking with other insurance companies for a better rate. 

Chief Accounting Officer Larissa Ruark asked if there was a benchmark or threshold on how much to justify on 

each line item asking on a fourteen-million-dollar budget how extreme are they trying to be.  She said she is 

thinking in terms of time restraints, resources, staffing, and trying to make it all by the deadline. Commissioner 

Ledford said one example is when the previous 911 director had $15,000 in her budget for toilet paper. He said 

things that stand out in a budget that cause you to question it. Commissioner Gray said he is thinking of software 

programs the county pays for but isn’t using, He said to think of it in the same terms you would your home 

budget if you were looking to cut expenses. Commissioner Ledford said if the millage rate would need to be 

increased he would feel better about that knowing they tried everything including this new process with the 

budget to ensure what the county spends is necessary.  

 

Mr. Benton gave an update on the county landfill saying that every year Jordan Engineering must perform a 

survey on the remaining capacity of the landfill. He said the EPD has a lot of requirements on pre-funding, pre-

closing, and post-closing a landfill. He said in 2019 the estimated date for completion of the facility meaning 

when the landfill would be full was set for 2040.  Mr. Benton said now at the current rate that has changed to 

2043. He said the expected closure was 2031 in 2022 and 2033 in 2021. He said some factors are in that change 

such as the increased cost and cutting the number of days the landfill is opened. Commissioner Ledford asked 

how much it would cost annually if it was closed down. Mr. Benton said it is very close to what it is now or 

possibly more. Chairman Henry said someone contacted him and asked if the county would close the landfill and 6



allow them to run it as a transfer station. He said they would allow people to dump but nothing would go into the 

landfill. Commissioner Ledford asked if they are willing to pay the county to cover the cost of having to landfill. 

Chairman Henry said they probably would and they are local to Jasper County. Commissioner Ledford said it 

was worth looking into whether it would stop the landfill from filling up and not cost the county anything. 

Commissioner Gray asked if it would be a lease deal. Chairman Henry said he didn’t have all the details, but he 

could ask for a business plan and present it if the Commissioners were interested. Chairman Henry said he would 

have them present a business plan.  

 

Mr. Benton gave an update on Station 7 saying the county challenged Precision Planning’s proposal cost for 

providing architectural services. The state of Georgia Probation Group now requires plans to be stamped by an 

architect before to will build. He said the cost from Precision Planning was $65,000. He said he sent it to the 

normal representative and she priced it at $43,000. He said the Chairman said that still seemed high and Liz at 

Precision Planning said they may want to try to find someone cheaper. Commissioner Ledford said it wouldn’t 

hurt to reach out to a few other firms. Mr. Benton said they would bid it out.  

 

The work session was adjourned at 7:39 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 
___________________________                                                    __________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman                                                                        Sheila Jefferson, Clerk                

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7



 

 

Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

December 2, 2024 

Regular Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 
 

Chairman Bruce Henry called the meeting to order at 6 p.m. 

 

Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman; Steven Ledford, Vice Chair; Don Jernigan; Sheila Pounds and Asher 

Gray  

 

Staff: Mike Benton, County Manager, Sheila Jefferson, Clerk- Administrative Services Director, Larissa Ruark, Chief 

Accounting Officer, Doug Attaway- Planning and Zoning Director 

 

Pledge of Allegiance:  

 

Invocation: Commissioner Ledford 

 

Agenda Approval:  Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the agenda. Commissioner Pounds seconded, and the 

motion passed unanimously.  

 

Consent Agenda: Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the following minutes: 

 

• Work Session Minutes- October 21, 2024 

• Work Session Minutes- October 28, 2024 

• Regular Meeting Minutes- November 4, 2024 

 

Commissioner Ledford seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.      

     

Commissioner Gray motioned to approve Check #72526-72765 Commissioner Ledford seconded, motion passed 

unanimously. 

 Public Hearings with Business Action 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to begin the public hearing at 6:02 p.m. Commissioner Gray seconded, and the motion 

passed unanimously.  

 

Public Hearing 1: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119-245.- Same 

non-residential districts. Reducing the minimum lot size in C-2 zoning from 1.2 Acres to 1 Acre.: 

 

In Favor: 

Jason Abercrombie: Spoke in favor as the business owner. He said they have been struggling with trying to get their 

dealership up and running for several months and it seems like no one has their stuff together. He said the county has been 

taxing the property as C-2 for at least thirty years. He said now he is being told it is zoned AG. He said this situation has 

almost put them out of business because they are trying to move their business from Griffin to Mansfield. He said he is asking 

them to give the small guys a chance because it seems you have to have a big name around here to get anything done. 

 

Opposed: 

Bill Nash:  Mr. Nash said as a member of the Planning and Zoning board he voted against it. He said after all the effort to 

try to increase residential lots to reduce density this seems like it would be going in the wrong direction. He said the county 

set up the Variance Board for issues such as this. He said that is the appropriate venue and would not create any problems 

for everyone else in the county because of trying to help one person. He said he doesn’t want to create a new low standard. 

He said the county has been careful about driveway distances and that challenge is going to become more complex creating 

problems for drivers while the DOT tries to reconcile what the county will allow. He said he is against it and he hopes the 

commissioners vote against it as well.  8



 

Business Item 1:  Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119-245.- Same non-

residential districts. Reducing the minimum lot size in C-2 zoning from 1.2 Acres to 1 Acre: Chairman Henry asked the 

County Attorney Adam Nelson if they could approve the ordinance amendment and still leave the lot size the same. He said 

that was the intention because it has been taxed as C-2. He asked if it would need to go before the variance boards. Mr. 

Nelson said that even though it looks like the property has been used as commercial for quite some time there have been 

periods of inactivity and any non-conforming business would have caused a loss of the grandfathered use. He said allowing 

the change without changing the lot size requirement could cause a conflict in the code. He said they would need to change 

the lot size requirements. Mr. Nelson stated that typically variances are used for particular characteristics of a property, not 

lot sizes. He said that it could be done but it shouldn't be. 

   

Chairman Henry asked what options they would have if they did not change the acreage for C-2 zoning.  Mr. Nelson said 

this is a common issue for counties to find mis-zoned parcels of land. He said it just happened that Jasper County has a lot 

size requirement that makes it difficult to rezone the lot.  He said there are other code change options they could make but 

the way the code is written they would have to start over and it would take months to get it taken care of. 

 

Commissioner Gray asked Planning and Zoning Director Doug Attaway why the zoning is set at 1.2 acres. Mr. Attaway said 

he asked David Mercer about the minimum lot requirements for Commercial and Mr. Mercer said 1 acre. Mr. Attaway said 

for some reason unknown to him in 2009 it was coded for 1.2 acres. Mr. Attaway said he also wanted to point out that 

according to the ordinance minimum lot size standards are non-appealable.  

 

Commissioner Ledford asked if changing the ordinance would make it possible for someone to change a residential lot to 

Commercial. Mr. Attaway said they would have to go through the rezoning process which would include two public 

hearings. Commissioner Ledford said he is trying to look at what would be best for the county. He said everyone looks at it 

as if it's just for a car lot but the decision will affect the entire county as a whole.  

  

Commissioner Gray said he feels they should treat it as grandfathered in. He said everyone he has spoken to agrees it is 

commercial. Chairman Henry said that would mean taking different steps. Commissioner Ledford said he is wondering 

why it was changed to 1.2. He said the 1.2 acres of land is hard to buy and two acres is too large of a requirement for C-2. 

He said the .2 isn’t going to stop much but he thinks one acre minimum requirement would be okay.  

 

Mary Patrick raised her hand to speak and Chairman Henry allowed saying the public hearing was still open. Mrs. Patrick 

asked if it would be possible to change the land use map for that one lot. She said everything next to it is commercial and 

that would solve the problem. Mr. Nelson said that Mrs. Patrick has a good point but they have to be careful how they operate 

from a legal standpoint. He said the Commissioners have spent the past year talking about lot sizes in residential areas but 

he doesn't remember a discussion about commercial lot size. He said when they set the lot size everybody has to play by the 

rules at the time they go in place. Mr. Nelson said that means if they change the lot size to one acre for commercial and 

approve it anyone who wanted could then have a one-acre commercial lot. He said there are legally some rights impacted by 

people in between the changes. He said the rules follow what is on record at the time you apply to develop property. He said 

there is nothing to stop them from reducing the lot size today and then increasing it at a later date. Mr. Nelson said that is the 

only way he can see for them to correct what seems to him as a clerical error that was made. He said he would not engage in 

doing this often because then it leads you to decide when you are going to follow the rules and when you are not. He said 

there are going to be times the board would need to make decisions such as these. Chairman Henry said that if someone 

questions why they made this decision then they could just refer them to the minutes showing that it was a clerical error. Mr. 

Nelson said they could but they could also lower the lot size to one acre and moratorium any additional rezoning in that fifth 

zoning direct. He said that would give them time to research why the zoning was changed to 1.2 acres.  He said that would 

allow them to change it back if they did find a requirement for the change or abide by the 1 acre if they don’t find any reason 

for the 1.2 and lift the moratorium. Commissioner Ledford said he feels they should drop it all down to 1 acre or increase it 

all because the 1.2 doesn't make sense. He said all the commercial zoning is the same and he thinks they need to look at and 

change all of them. He said he thinks they need to go through all the ordinances.  

 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to change C-2 from 1.2 acres to 1 acre. Commissioner Jernigan seconded, and the motion 

passed unanimously.  

 

Chairman Henry asked if the property Mr. Abercrombie is requesting to have rezoned is still AG currently. Mr. Attaway said 

it is and his request was tabled but should be added to the January 6th meeting. Commissioner Gray asked if they could amend 

the agenda and add the rezoning request to the current agenda. Mr. Nelson said the last time the board had considered the 

rezoning of the property was in September and that they are right at 90 days. He said if they changed the zoning at this point 

someone could successfully challenge their decision. He said he would re-advertise if it was up to him. Chairman Henry said 9



it has been less than 90 days, he said it has been closer to 85 days. Mr. Nelson said he would not pass the 90-day mark without 

re-advertising. He said there is no law stating it but in a recent case in another county, 90 days was too long. He said if the 

property owner wants to take the risk then that is up to him. Chairman Henry said it was about 85 days. Mr. Nelson said they 

would need a motion from the board to move forward and take from the table the rezoning application.  

 

Commissioner Gray motioned to add the Rezoning application. 2024 REZ 002. Request to re-zone .92 acres from AG to C-

2 from the September 9, meeting that was tabled making it item # 2 on the agenda for December 2, 2024. Commissioner 

Ledford seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

 

Presentations/Delegations: None 

 

Citizens Comments: 

 

Victor Columbus: Spoke against Industrial Solar Farms. Mr. Columbus said that the Board of Commissioners had already 

unanimously voted against the issue and now there have been two town halls about it. He said the implication that the Board 

of Commissioners are reconsidering their decision is profound. He said Jasper County would be going from a lovely rural 

county to an industrial complex supplying power to places unknown. He said the proposed area for the Industrial Solar Farm 

is 2.5 times larger than the entire City of Monticello. He said that it would be the same as 2197 football fields. He said they 

did not discuss the location of a battery bank and other associated equipment. He said in a statement they said the transmission 

lines in place were adequate to carry the load. He said that statement is true but he finds it difficult to believe that those lines 

are not already being used which would mean an increase in the size and capacity of those transmission lines. Mr. Columbus 

said that could affect homeowners whose property the lines would cross from one side of the county to the other. He said he 

assumes that this is all about the money. He said they first presented that additional tax revenues of four million dollars would 

be paid to the county every year but according to representatives from EDP, the taxes would be paid on a depreciation 

schedule that they will not disclose. He said the representative simply stated it would be too hard for you to understand. He 

said assuming they use a modified cost recovery system the decline would occur in a year or two and spiral downward from 

there. Mr. Columbus said at the last town hall meeting it was disclosed that there would be tax incentives but no one will 

disclose the amounts of the concessions. He said to couple that with EDP utilization of a process known as asset rotation. He 

said after the accelerated depreciation is taken EDP sells all or significant portions of the Industrial Solar Farm to another 

LLC and the depreciation begins all over again. Mr. Columbus asked where the real benefit was to the county. He said tax 

revenues will decline significantly over a short period. He said the benefit would be for one land owner, Georgia Power, and 

EDP Renewal.  

 

David Sheppard: Mr. Sheppard said that he wanted to share his appreciation for the board and especially Commissioner 

Jernigan. He said every time he has ever called or emailed Commissioner Jernigan he has always gotten a response no matter 

the issue. He said he and Commissioner Jernigan have gone through a lot of things together and Commissioner Jernigan 

helped get Goolsby Rd paved. He said recently Commissioner Jernigan helped get the pothole patching machine. He said he 

appreciated him and wanted to wish Commissioner Jernigan good health and a happy retirement.  

 

Martha Hayes: Spoke on the request from the City of Monticello for assistance for help with repairs for a city road. She 

said with the way the roads are through the county she can’t believe the Commissioners would even consider the request. 

She said she has been trying to get her road repaired since February 2024, so her driveway doesn’t wash away. She said she 

has spoken to County Manager Mike Benton and Commissioner Ledford in person and through email. She said she was told 

Public Works director Michael Walsh was contacted and there was a plan to get the road graded after the rainy season. She 

said she did not hear from anyone about her section of County Line Rd until July 2024. She said she had a meeting with 

Michael Walsh in July and he said he knew what needed to be done but did not know when it could be done. She said she 

pays about $4800.00 in taxes and doesn’t get anything from the county except trash pickup and she pays for that.  

 

Cathy Benson: Spoke about the Pothole Patching Machine and the conditions of her road. She said one hole was patched 

while others were missed. She said all that has ever been done on her road was patching holes and she has been there 

twenty-six years. She said she would like to know where her tax money is going. 

 

Mary Patrick: She said she and Commissioner Jernigan have had their issues, but he has always called or emailed her back 

if she ever sent him anything and she appreciates that. She then spoke about the industrial solar farm. She said the BOC has 

been misled by EDP. She said the county will not get 4.7 million dollars a year and most likely will not even get 4.7 million 

the first year. Mrs. Patrick said the BOC was not told about tax abatements and incentives that are absolutely going to be 

given. She said EPD stated at the town hall meeting that they had to have them and they haven't settled on the tax package 

yet. She said even though they have told the Commissioners there would be no tax incentive there will be and EDP would 

not be involved without them. Mrs. Patrick said the tax incentive would cut out a large portion of the revenue and depreciation 10



would further deplete it. She said she is wondering how much revenue the BOC thinks they are going to get. She said the 

liability of the entire project is in question if the Trump administration cut out all tax incentives for clean energy as promised. 

She said she doesn't want the Commissioners to go back on their promise to keep Jasper County Rural because of over-stated 

tax revenue promises. She asked the county attorney why she couldn't see what he charged us for. She said everything he 

sent her in an open records request was blacked out. Mrs. Patrick said she wants to know how much he has billed the county 

for the short-term rental work he has done.  She said it's not private information and the citizens of the county should know 

how much they are paying for services.  

 

Cindy Price: Spoke in favor of the BOC assisting the City of Monticello with road repairs in the Oak Ridge subdivision. 

She said that the people in that subdivision pay their taxes and those taxes are paid to the county. Mrs. Price said the majority 

of their taxes go to the county. She said the residents in Oak Ridge have spoken to the county and the city to get the road 

repaired. Mrs. Price said that at some point someone has to acknowledge that they are residents of both the city and the 

county and they need to come together. She said she is asking the county to help the city fix the road. She said she understands 

there are a lot of roads that need to be repaired but she is fighting for her neighborhood.   

 

Donnie Pope: Sheriff Donnie Pope spoke to thank Commissioner Jernigan for all he has done for the County. He said 

Commissioner Jernigan worked to leave the county better than he found it. Sheriff Pope said public service can be a thankless 

job and he wants to let Commissioner Jernigan know he appreciates all he has done and wishes him all the best. Sheriff Pope 

then spoke on the county retirement saying that he appreciates all the time they have spent on the issue. He said no matter 

what plan they choose he is asking them to please leave the employee contribution at three percent. He said increasing the 

amount to five percent would essentially cut the amount of take-home pay for employees. He said the preferred plan for 

employees would be 1B. He said employees have always contributed financially and the commissioners should also consider 

the sacrifice and work put in by the employees. He said county employees are a team and the commissioners need to take 

care of that team.  

 

Jason Abercrombie: Thanked Commissioner Jernigan for his service. He said they had some issues but Commissioner 

Jernigan helped them get it worked out and he just really appreciated him.  

 

County Commissioner Items & Updates: 

 

Commissioner Pounds: None 

 

Chairman Henry: He said he wanted to thank Commissioner Jernigan for his service. He said they have not always agreed 

but they have always been able to be civil towards one another.   

 

Commissioner Jernigan: He said he has enjoyed his time as a County Commissioner. He said he rather continue to serve 

as a Commissioner as he enjoys helping people. He said his wife feels differently and is good with having him home and 

the phone not ringing as much.  He said he started serving the government in 1968 and he enjoys it. He said he is available 

until December 31st. He stated that the patching machine is a good piece of equipment and we have a good operator but like 

with anything new that someone has never done before there is a learning curve for everyone. He said if he had some 

support and understanding then he believes the employee will do very well operating the truck. He said that maybe he 

needs some additional training from the company. He said you just can’t start a new job you have never done before 

without making some mistakes.  

 

Commissioner Gray: Commissioner Gray said that he has also had issues with the pothole patching machine. He said he 

is looking at the scheduling aspect. He asked what the issue with the timeline was and said he was just wondering if the 

operator had other obligations that might cause a delay.  

 

Mr. Benton stated that operating the pothole machine is his primary job.  

 

Commissioner Gray said that he has heard complaints from several citizens and they will be monitoring it closely going 

forward.  

 

Mr. Benton said the particular road they are discussing is beyond what the pothole machine should be used for. He said it 

needs hot asphalt.  

 

Commissioner Gray said it's a short stretch. Commissioner Gray then told the County Attorney Adam Nelson that he had 

an issue with his redaction of the bill. He said that he understands Attorney-client privilege but it is also public.  

 11



Mr. Nelson said that when they respond to an open records request on billing by a resident they provide redacted 

information due to attorney-client privilege. He said any commissioner can request a copy of the billing and it would have 

full information. Mr. Nelson said the Commissioners as the client can then share that information with whoever they wish 

but he can not disclose it to the public himself. He said that is a standard process for government clients. He said he cannot 

break confidentiality but the commissioners can do what they like with the information. Mr. Nelson said in response to 

Mrs. Patrick's point he can give the commissioners an itemized bill for a particular service but he doesn't have a choice on 

the open records request made by the public. He said he does want to be transparent but he has to follow procedure.  

 

Commissioner Ledford: None 

 

Regular Agenda 

 Business Items: 

 

Business Item 2: Request to re-zone .92 acres from AG to C-2: Planning and Zoning Director Doug Attaway presented 

an application request to rezone property located at 22016 Hwy 11 N from GA to C2 that had been tabled at the September 

2024 meeting. He said he believes the P&Z Board voted to approve the rezoning request in August 2024 3 to 2. 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the rezoning request from AG to C2 for the .92-acre lot located at 22016 Hwy 

11 N. Commissioner Jernigan seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 3: Renewal of 2025 Alcohol Licenses:  

Tyson’s Country Store, Application number 2025-A-001 located at 22044 Hwy 11 North., Monticello, GA 31064. 

Name of applicant: Lisa Whitaker Wilkerson – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal Commissioner Ledford motioned 

to approve – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal for Tyson’s County Store. Commissioner Gray seconded, and the 

motion passed unanimously. 

Frank’s Restaurant, Application number 2025-A-002 located at 11818 Hwy 212 West Covington, GA 30014. Name of 

applicant: Vivian Castellana Fuller – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – Renewal. Commissioner 

Ledford motioned to approve the pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – Renewal for Frank's Restaurant 

Commissioner Gray seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

Lakeview Marina, Application number 2025-A-003 located at 8726 Jackson Lake Road Monticello, GA 31064.  Name 

of applicant: Shabanali Jabbarcheloei – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal. Commissioner Jernigan motioned to 

approve – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal for Lake Marina. Commissioner Pounds seconded, and the motion 

passed unanimously. 

Lakeview Restaurant, Application number 2025-A-004 located at 8726 B Jackson Lake Road Monticello, GA 31064.  

Name of applicant: Shabanali Jabbarcheloei – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – Renewal. 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – Renewal for 

Lakeview Restaurant Commissioner Pounds seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

Convenience Stores, Inc. dba Larry's 4-Way, Application number 2025-A-005 located at 9160 Hwy 212 West 

Monticello, GA 31064. Name of applicant: Joann Hedrick – Retail sales of beer and wine. – Renewal. Commissioner 

Jernigan motioned to approve – Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal for Convenience Stores, INC dba Larry’s 4-Way. 

Commissioner Pounds seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 

Turtle Cove POA, Application number 2025-A-006 located at 222 Clubhouse Drive Monticello, GA 31064. Name of 

applicant: Phillip Myers – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. Renewal. Commissioner Jernigan motioned 

to approve the pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and wine. – Renewal for Turtle Cove POA.  Commissioner Pounds 

seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

Shane One Stop, Application number 2025-A-009 located at 8541 GA Hwy 142 Shady Dale, GA 31085.  Name of 

applicant: Gautamkumar P. Patel - Retail sales of beer and wine – Renewal. Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve – 

Retail sales of beer and wine and renewal for Shane One Stop. Commissioner Gray seconded, and the motion passed 

unanimously. 

Business Item 4: Environmental Health Fee Schedule Update and Approval: David Mercer presented a request for 

updated fee amounts for services provided by the Environmental Health Department. Mr. Mercer said the last time they 

updated fees was about eight years ago. He said the reason they are requesting the increase is because the cost to provide 

service has gone up. He provided packets with a breakdown of the cost. He said that the board of Health had approved the 

12



increase, a public hearing was held and it was advertised in the paper for a month. He said he is now just seeking the County 

Commissioners approval of the updated fees.  

 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve the updated Environmental Health Fee Schedule. Commissioner Ledford 

seconded, Commissioner Ledford asked if the updated fees were just to bring them up to the district average. Mr. Mercer 

said they are just trying to catch up to the district average because our fees were below and he is trying to be confirmed 

district-wide. The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 5: Monticello City Council Financial Assistance Request for Road Repairs in Oak Ridge Subdivision: 

Chairman Henry said he received a letter from Doug Curry that was included in the packet. Commissioner Ledford asked 

what kind of resurfacing project they are doing. Mr. Benton said it is areas of failure on the road that need to be repaired. 

Mr. Tim Womack attended the meeting and was asked to represent the Monticello City Council. Mr. Womack said the city 

is requesting assistance for the road repair because their thought was the county collects the impact fees on the road and if 

all 42 lots are sold that is approximately $58,000. He said they are not asking the county to repair just help with the cost.  

 

Chairman Henry said impact fees cannot be used for repairs. Mr. Womack stated that he understood but that was the thought 

and they were just asking for help. He said that a lot of county money comes from citizens who live in the city also. 

Commissioner Ledford asked what kind of work needed to be done. Mr. Womack said the road is in awful condition. 

Chairman Henry said that a logging company is responsible for a lot of the damage to the road. Commissioner Ledford asked 

if the logging company had a bond. Mr. Womack said he has only been working with the city on this for a short time but it 

was his understanding that the original timber company had a bond but he isn't sure about any others.  

 

Commissioner Ledford asked if the county had received a quote from the city on the repair cost. Mr. Benton said no they 

only received a letter requesting assistance. Commissioner Pounds asked if they got three estimates for the work. Mr. 

Womack said they got estimates but he could not say for sure how many and he would have to check on it. Commissioner 

Jernigan said that it sounds like the job is too big for the city road department. Mr. Womack said it is a huge job. He said he 

was not prepared to represent the city at this meeting, so he doesn’t have some of the information the commissioners are 

requesting. Commissioner Jernigan said maybe it should be table until Mr. Doug Curry can attend the meeting as he wrote 

the letter requesting funding. He said he feels bad for the city residents but it's the city's responsibility to take care of the 

roads. He said he feels the city should have the funds. He said they stopped funding law enforcement when they did away 

with their police department, they no longer fund the library, and they don't help fund the recreation department so they 

should have some money. He said he didn't know what they did with the funds they were using for those items. Commissioner 

Jernigan said he understands that Mr. Womack was not on the council at that time but where is all that money?  

 

Commissioner Gray said the county just applied for LMIG and suggested the city try doing the same thing. Mr. Benton said 

they are behind on their audits and they may not be eligible for LMIG grants. Commissioner Ledford said since everyone is 

beating Mr. Womack down they need to know he is the one making sure the audits are getting caught up. Commissioner 

Ledford said $18,000.00 doesn't seem like major road damage and he would like to see the quotes. He said residents in the 

City of Shady Dale and the City of Monticello do pay county taxes but the City of Monticello gets a major portion of the 

LOST (Local Option Sales Tax) which is for this type of project. He said there should be funds from that. He said he has no 

problem helping the citizens in the county if there is a need but he doesn't feel $18,000 is major road work. He said he 

understood there is damage but without seeing the quotes to see what the damage actually is. He said if there are truly ruts 

in the asphalt twelve inches deep $18,000 is not going to cover the cost.  

 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to table Monticello City Council Financial Assistance Request for Road Repairs in Oak 

Ridge Subdivision. Commissioner Jernigan seconded. Chairman Henry said he wanted to have further discussion. He said a 

few years ago the County and City of Monticello went through LOST negotiations. He said the County was trying to get 

more money from the City of Monticello but they held firm to what they were getting from that. He said if the County had 

gotten more money from the LOST there might be funds to help but the City of Monticello was holding tight. He said they 

should have that money for this project based on the LOST funds. Commissioner Gray said the City is incorporated for a 

reason. He said if they want the county to handle everything the City of Monticello needs to dissolve and let the county 

handle it. He said every time you turn around the city is coming to the BOC. He said he understands the citizens are in the 

county but he is talking about the city. He said cities create cities to run their own government. He said if they are having 

issues and are unable to pay $18,000 to fix the road then maybe the need to dissolve and the County can take over the city 

and be done with it or consolidate. Commissioner Gray said the City’s approved budget of 12.1 million dollars and the 

county’s approved budget is 14.7 million dollars with a lot more to fund. Motion to table passed 3 to 2 with Chairman Henry 

and Commissioner Gray opposed.  

 

13



Business Item 6: Georgia First Responder PTSD Program – Insurance Coverage: Mr. Benton presented saying House 

Bill 451 requires Public Entities in Georgia to offer supplemental benefit programs for all first responders diagnosed with 

PTSD resulting from exposure to line-of-duty traumatic events. Mr. Benton said we have ninety-nine first responders eligible 

for the coverage. He said the coverage has to be in place by January 1, 2025. ACCG put together a quote because it is a 

statewide requirement. He said the annual premium is $12,670 for the ninety-nine first responders. Chairman Henry asked 

who is considered first responders. Ms. Jefferson said all firefighters paid and volunteer, jailors, and deputies. She said it 

includes dispatchers but they do not fall under the BOC so they were not included in the quote. Commissioner Ledford 

motioned to approve Georgia First Responder PTSD Program – Insurance Coverage. Commissioner Pounds seconded, 

Motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 7: Broadband, Equity, Access, and Deployment Program Support: Chairman Henry said a few years ago 

the county put in money along with Central Georgia EMC to add fiber optic broadband on all of their lines. It was made 

available to approximately 75% of the county. He said the Federal Government is offering some additional funds and AT&T 

is requesting a letter of support. He said he contacted Central Georgia EMC and they are also requesting a letter of support 

to get the extra funds to finish the remaining areas of the county. He said he just needs authorization to sign the support letter 

stating that Jasper County is looking to get the funding to complete the project. Mr. Benton said they need the support letter 

this month. He said it was not for money from the county just a support letter for the grant. Commissioner Jernigan motioned 

to authorize Chairman Henry to sign the letter of support for the Broadband, Equity, Access, and Deployment Program. 

Commissioner Pounds seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 8: 2025 Board of Commissioner Meeting Dates Approval: Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve 

the 2025 Board of Commissioner meeting dates with a change of the December 1st, 2025 meeting being moved to December 

8th, 2025. Commissioner Pounds seconded, motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 9: 2025 County Holidays Approval: Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve 2025 County Holidays 

as presented. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 10: Human Resources and County Boards Report: County Human Resource Director Sheila Jefferson 

presented an update on newly hired employees, terminations, and resignations from September 2024 – November 2024. Ms. 

Jefferson said the county currently has 176 employees with 119 full-time and 57 part-time. She also gave an update on the 

county boards with openings for new members.  

 

Business Item 11: 457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan Amendment – Allow Roth Contributions: County Manager 

Mike Benton presented an update on the discussed amendment for the county employee voluntary retirement 457(b) plan to 

allow employee contributions to go to a ROTH. He said these are post-tax contributions. He said David Bell did get ACCG 

to put together an adoption amendment to allow the ROTH Contribution to be made along with the resolution to adopt the 

amendment. He said there is no cost to the county. Commissioner Ledford motioned to authorize Chairman Henry to sign 

the adoption agreement for the 457(b) Roth option. Commissioner Gray seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 

Business Item 12: Employee Retirement Plan Improvement Options: Chairman Henry said they have studied the options 

and have narrowed them down to two choices. Commissioner Jernigan said the county employees need to be taken care of 

because they are the backbone of the county. He said county employees get very little praise and take a lot of abuse. He said 

the Commissioners need to take care of the county employees the best they can. Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve 

retirement plan option 1B and leave the employee contribution at 3% with a one-time deposit of $1,086,100 using the fund 

balance to reduce the annual cost and interest. Commissioner Pounds seconded. Commissioner Ledford said they discussed 

using money from the fund balance to put a one-million-dollar deposit towards the plan to offset the additional cost. Mr. 

Benton gave a breakdown of the additional cost to the county for options 1A and 1B if the employee contribution remains 

3%. He said 1A would cost the county an additional $75,900 with a one-time deposit of $1,166,900. Option 1B would be 

$198,450 with a one-time deposit of $1,086,100. He said the money is in the fund balance to cover the cost of either option. 

He said the money is there for the one-time deposit and will save the county in interest and reduce to annual contribution so 

it would be a good use of the funds. Commissioner Gray asked what the fund balance would be after the one-time payment. 

Mr. Benton said the estimated FY 2024 projected fund balance amount is around 7 million dollars leaving about 6 million 

after the one-time payment. Commissioner Jernigan asked what the yearly fund balance increase average is. Mr. Benton said 

it has been between $500,000 and $1,000,000. He said the county now has a positive yearly increase that will cover the 

additional cost. Chairman Henry asked if the one million deposit would need to be paid again in five years or if it was a one-

time buydown. Mr. Benton said it is a one-time buy-down to reduce the annual payment and interest amount. Chairman 

Henry asked if they should consider paying additional payments in the future as the fund balance increases. Mr. Benton said 

they look at the retirement audit every year and that can be discussed at that time each year. The motion passed unanimously. 

 14



Business Item 13: Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings as Needed: Chairman Henry motioned not to schedule 

any called meetings or work sessions until after the beginning of the new year. Commissioner Ledford seconded, and the 

motion passed unanimously.  

County Attorney Items: None 

County Manager Update: Mr. Benton said the commissioners need to be thinking about a work session for January 2025. 

He said they need to meet a deadline for making decisions on House Bill 581. He then gave an update on YTD and MTD 

build permits for both residential and commercial. Mr. Benton said that the FY 2024 is on target. 

 

Executive Session: Executive session began at 7:49 p.m.  

 

 

 __________________________                            ________________________ 

 

Bruce Henry, Chairman                                           Sheila Jefferson, Clerk                

 

 

 

 

  

15



 

Consent Agenda – Item 2: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: January 6, 2025 

 

Subject:  Approval of Check Register 

 

 

Summary: 

 

A check register will be generated by the finance department on the meeting day for signature and approval to 

process the checks. 

 

Background: 

 

Cost:  $0 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

 

Approve processing of check #’s: 72766-72985 

 

  

16



Public Hearing 1: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning and Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Preliminary Plat 24-001,  Lake Pines Subdivision off Landers Lane. 

 

 

Summary: The 62.19 acres comprise of three tracts of land that are designed to be a conservation subdivision 

with a total of 9 lots. The property has road frontage on Hwy 212 W,  Landers Lane, and Graphic View Drive. 

The property is currently zoned RES and the density is one primary dwelling unit per five acres.   

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the preliminary plat with the following 

changes, identify greenspace as open space, add a lot frontage table, identify the non buildable buffers in the 

green space, and place the CBU (mail Kiosk) outside of the right of way.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

17



LAKE
JACKSON 

NOFCINDI L. AND
 JASON L. POPE

D.B. 1007, p. 7
P.B. 10, p. 295

NOF
W.R. AND JOYCE B.

CHILDERS
 JASON L. POPE

D.B. 238, p. 92
P.B. 6, p. 94

NOFJAMES ANDREW
PATTERSON AND

KAYLA PATTERSON D.B.

1076, p. 82
P.B. 10, p. 161

NOF
SCOTT ERIC AND

CHRISTINE CAROL
ZEHNGRAFF

D.B. 1001, p. 164

D.B. 1001, p. 166

NOF
SHANE, CHRISTY, AND

SHARON DERSHIMER

D.B. 1001, p. 206

P.B. 1001, p. 208

NEWTON COUNTY

JASPER COUNTY

S0
°5

9'
20

"W

16
4.

12
'

N86°41'53"W  205.21'

N
17

°0
9'

39
"W

19
3.

55
'

N46°49'33"W
51.26'

S43°59'01"W
75.71'

S49°59'41"E  121.68'

N43°28'30"E
202.33'

N65°04'27"E  129.86'

S84°58'52"E
45.13' S77°59'30"E  174.56'

S84°49'48"W
103.72'

S38°16'57"W  131.06'

S12°48'56"W
106.44'

S24°42'03"W
56.97'

N82°02'32"W  161.99'

S4
°1

8'
22

"E
  1

04
8.

07
'

N89°45'48"E  245.00'

N1
°0

7'
07

"W
  2

12
.7

6'

N1
°0

5'
30

"W
  1

99
.9

7'

N1
°0

7'
18

"W
  2

42
.6

0'

N1
°0

1'
34

"W
  2

18
.6

5'

N1
°1

0'
20

"W
  2

72
.9

3'

N1°55'48"W  37.51'

S88°31'54"E  307.79'

S87°44'52"E  136.04' N77°43'05"E
73.24'

N68°14'18"E
109.86'

S1
6°5

8'0
2"

W
  2

19
.56

'

S1
6°5

8'0
2"

W
  1

33
.12

'

S0°59'20"W
16.03'

N17°09'39"W
41.52'

N43°59'01"E  155.51'

N43°59'01"E
66.75'

S4°18'22"E
52.80'

S4°18'22"E
60.53'

S4
°1

8'
22

"E
  3

71
.8

5'

NOF
MICHAEL S. CASTELLANA

D.B. 2725, p. 137

PLAT: D.B. 939, p. 253

NOF

JOANNA CASTELLANA JONES

D.B. 1118, p. 405

PLAT: D.B. 939, p. 253

NOF
R. KEITH AND VIVIAN C.

FULLER
D.B. 939, p. 251

PLAT: D.B. 939, p. 253

NOF
VIVIAN C. FULLER

D.B. 2989, p. 439

PLAT: D.B. 939, p. 253

NOF
THE CASTELLANA FAMILY

LIVING TRUST
D.B. 788, p. 36

P.B. 11, p. 636A

NOF
THOMAS J. GRAY, III

D.B. 1022, p. 323
P.B. 8, p. 27

NOF

SHANE AND GRACE MULLINAX

D.B. 1007, p. 4
P.B. 9, p. 448

P.B. 2, p. 171

NOF

SHANE AND GRACE MULLINAX

D.B. 1002, p. 307
P.B. 2, p. 171

MICHAEL D. AND LYNDA K. AUTRY

NOF
B.R. AND D. ROBINSON

S12°48'56"W
126.12'

LAKE
JACKSON 

ASPHALT

TO REMAIN

DRIVEWAY

11' P
AVED ROAD

11' PAVED
TO BE REMOVED

ROAD

W
ETLAN

DS 01

W
ETLAN

DS 02

03
W

ETLAN
DS

WETLANDS 04

WETLANDS 05

WETLANDS 06

W
ET

LA
ND

S 0
5

TO
 BE

 RE
M

OVED

GE
O

RG
IA

 H
IG

HW
AY

 2
12

S84°58'52"E
36.44'

NOFCINDI L. AND
 JASON L. POPE

D.B. 1007, p. 7
P.B. 10, p. 295

EXISTING18" CMP

HOUSE

NOF
MARC & LYDIA MOUSSEAU

D.B. 1047, p. 34
P.B. 11, p. 82

APPROXIMATE SHORELINE

EXISTING DRIVE

APPRO
XIM

ATE SHO
RELIN

E

S89°46'50"E
25.54'

PRESSURE REDUCING

VALVE VAULT

3.06 AC

3.01 AC

3.18 AC

3.60 AC

3.00 AC

3.34 AC

3.09 AC

3.99 AC

3.21 AC
LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

LOT 7

LOT 8

LOT 9

OPEN SPACE
AREA 1

25.49 ACRES

OPEN SPACE
AREA 1

GS/OS

AREA 3

0.36 AC

GS/OS AREA 5
0.71 ACRE

OPEN SPACE
AREA 6

0.40 ACRE

LA
N

DE
RS

 L
AN

E

GS/OS
AREA 2
0.11 AC

30' DRIVEWAY EASEMENT

N74°52'56"E  580.36'

N73°09'03"E  513.40'

N73°09'03"E  779.29'

N73°09'03"E  727.00'

N73°09'03"E  699.75'

N73°09'03"E  632.02'

S82°04'55"E  693.65'

N
15

°3
8'

43
"W

  2
00

.0
4'

N
15

°3
8'

43
"W

  2
00

.0
4'

N68°56'09"E
112.40'

N0
°1

5'
39

"W
  1

99
.8

7'

N1
°1

0'
20

"W
  2

58
.0

6'

N1
°0

1'
34

"W
  2

18
.6

5'

S88°31'54"E  254.94'

S87°44'52"E  142.41'

N16
°58

'02
"E

19
7.6

1'

N16
°58

'02
"E

12
9.7

6'

S86°41'53"E  362.41'

S1
7°

09
'3

9"
E 

 1
68

.0
9'

N
15

°3
8'

43
"W

  7
07

.6
1'

N17°41'05"E
  3

76.28'

N72°29'25"W  356.37'

S71°46'24"E  381.44'
N13

°5
5'2

3"
E  

38
1.8

0'

0.8
4 A

C

LO
T 1

A*

GS/OS
AREAS 4A/B

0.28 ACRELANDERS LANE

THE EXISTING COUNTY ROAD IS SUBSTANDARD
AND IS TO BE IMPROVED TO MEET COUNTY SPECIFICATIONS

AS REQUIRED BY THE DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE.
A 60'-WIDE RIGHT-OF-WAY TO BE DEDICATED TO JASPER COUNTY

FOLLOWING EXISITNG ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS.

500' HYDRANT

SERVICE RADIUS

500' HYDRANT

SERVICE RADIUS

500' HYDRAN
T

SERVICE RADIU
S

GRAPHIC VIEW DR

GEORGIA POWER COMPANY

GEORGIA POWER COMPANY

80' B
SL

50' B
SL

30' BSL

30' BSL

80' BSL

30' BSL

50' BSL

30' BSL

30' BSL

31
8'

 B
SL

 @
 2

00
' W

ID
TH

50' BSL

80
' B

SL

80
' B

SL

80
' B

SL

80
' B

SL

80' BSL

30' BSL

30' BSL

30' BSL

30' BSL

POTENTIAL
HOUSE

SITE (TYP)

50' NON-BUILDABLE PERIMETER BUFFER

50
' N

ON
-B

UI
LD

AB
LE

 P
ER

IM
ET

ER
 B

UF
FE

R

100-YEAR
FLOOD LINE

50
' B

SL

50' BSL

50' BSL

50' BSL

50
' B

SL

30' BSL

30
' B

SL

POTENTIAL
HOUSE

SITE (TYP)

22' ASPHALT PAVEMENT

22
' A

SP
HA

LT
 P

AV
EM

EN
T

EXISTING ROAD TO
BE ABANDONED

EXISTING DRIVE TO REMAIN

TO REMAIN

FH

FH

FH

FH

60
' R

/W

N15°38'43"W
63.02'

N
15

°3
8'

43
"W

13
0.

45
'

N17°41'05"E
38.82'

N17°41'05"E
  2

34.27'

N0
°5

9'
20

"E
11

2.
93

'

N17°41'05"E
66.89'

N26°11'55"E
134.17'

N43°28'30"E

168.87'

N65°04'27"E
81.98'

S77°59'30"E
143.36' N12°48'56"E

94.31'

N17°41'05"E
155.82'

N26°11'55"E

156.51'

C3

C4

C8
C9

C13

C14

C15 C20

C2
1

C26
C27

C3
2

C33

C34
C35

C3
6

C37

C38
C39

C40
C41

C42
C43

N67°50'44"W
62.48'

N67°50'44"W
20.48'

N67°50'44"W
53.62'

C44

C45

C4
6

C47

C48

C49

CURVE TABLE
Curve

C3

C4

C8

C9

C13

C14

C15

C20

C26

C27

Chd Brng

N52°30'55"E

S34°50'13"W

S54°16'29"W

S83°32'29"W

N57°24'43"E

S15°15'01"W

S46°01'11"W

N29°21'17"E

S39°51'11"W

N73°08'02"W

Chd Len

44.33'

69.09'

37.47'

145.71'

196.59'

19.54'

218.33'

35.36'

91.59'

61.71'

Radius

50.00'

230.00'

100.00'

230.00'

140.00'

230.00'

230.00'

25.00'

70.00'

70.00'

Arc

45.93'

69.35'

37.70'

148.26'

217.94'

19.55'

227.49'

39.27'

99.84'

63.91'

CURVE TABLE
Curve

C32

C33

C34

C35

C36

C37

C38

C39

C40

C41

Chd Brng

N9°10'40"E

S24°50'42"W

S42°57'26"E

N46°31'36"W

N3°26'08"E

N79°19'01"E

N78°20'01"W

S46°01'11"W

S76°29'17"W

N80°02'22"W

Chd Len

116.28'

32.47'

22.94'

56.37'

61.85'

106.71'

22.94'

161.37'

42.48'

75.81'

Radius

70.00'

25.00'

25.00'

70.00'

70.00'

70.00'

25.00'

170.00'

108.59'

179.46'

Arc

137.22'

35.33'

23.83'

58.01'

64.07'

121.35'

23.83'

168.14'

42.76'

76.39'

CURVE TABLE
Curve

C42

C43

C45

C47

C48

C49

Chd Brng

S63°16'08"W

N80°02'22"W

N79°05'51"W

S60°59'09"E

S69°12'33"E

N78°54'54"E

Chd Len

65.18'

63.14'

21.65'

67.38'

46.47'

14.07'

Radius

78.59'

149.46'

25.00'

256.71'

196.71'

110.00'

Arc

67.21'

63.62'

22.39'

67.58'

46.58'

14.07'

PROPOSED
MAIL KIOSK

LOT FRONTAGE TABLE
Lot 1

Lot 2

Lot 3

Lot 4

Lot 5

Lot 6

Lot 7

Lot 8

Lot 9

376.28 FEET

354.04 FEET

64.07 FEET

212.11 FEET

200.04 FEET

200.04 FEET

235.57 FEET

63.91 FEET

99.84 FEET

GREENSPACE/

GREENSPACE/

GREENSPACE/

50' NON-BUILDABLE PERIMETER BUFFER

15
0'

 N
AT

UR
AL

 H
IG

HW
AY

 B
UF

FE
R

50' PERIM
ETER BU

FFER

50
' P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 BUFF
ER

4A

4B

N17°41'05"E
50.73'

(NO CONCRETE
IN R/W)

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y 

PL
AT

1

La
ke

 P
in

es
 S

ub
di

vi
si

on
N

ic
k 

Pl
at

ek
, O

w
ne

r
La

nd
 L

ot
s 

98
, 9

9,
 a

nd
 1

00
, D

is
tri

ct
 9

G
M

D
 9

05
Ja

sp
er

 C
ou

nt
y,

 G
eo

rg
ia

0
In

iti
al

 su
bm

itt
al

9/
20

/2
02

4
Da

te
Re

v
Re

vi
si

on
 D

es
cr

ip
tio

n

Sheet No.

En
gi

ne
er

in
g 

  S
ur

ve
yi

ng
   

So
ils

  U
AV

 M
ap

pi
ng

14
4 

N
. W

AR
RE

N
 S

T.
 M

O
N

TI
CE

LL
O

, G
A.

 3
10

64
TE

LE
PH

O
N

E:
 (7

06
) 4

68
-8

99
9

1
P&

Z 
Co

m
m

iss
io

n 
co

m
m

en
ts

 in
co

rp
or

at
ed

11
/2

6/
20

24

g
r
id

SCALE  1"= 100'

0' 100' 200' 300'

LL

P.O.B.

D.B.

POWER POLE

POINT OF BEGINNING

DEED BOOK
P.B.

LAND LOT
PLAT BOOK

2/
1

BEARING CHANGE (NO PIN SET)
" SOLID ROD (REBAR) SET

OPEN-TOP PIPE FOUND

LEGEND

SOLID ROD (REBAR) FOUND P.O.R. POINT OF REFERENCE
NOF NOW OR FORMERLY

OTP OPEN-TOP PIPE

SURVEYOR'S TRAVERSE NAIL SET

CMF CONCRETE MON. FD

SURVEYOR'S PK NAIL SET

PROPERTY BOUNDARY

LINE LEGEND

OVERHEAD POWER
EASEMENT
ADJOINING PROPERTY LINE
CREEK OR SHORELINE
PROPOSED ASPHALT PAVEMENT

EDGE OF EXISTING PAVEMENT
WIRE FENCE

DRAINAGE PIPE

EDGE OF DIRT/GRAVEL

525' CONTOUR + 50' PROPERTY BOUNDARY
LIMITS OF 100 YEAR FLOOD ZONE (FEMA)
BUILDING SETBACK LINE

CHAIN LINK FENCE

SURVEY NOTES:

SUBJECT PROPERTY INFORMATION:
CURRENT OWNER: NICHOLAS PLATEK
DEED RECORD: D.B. 1016, p. 226
PLAT RECORD: P.B . 11, p. 648A
TAX RECORD: TAX PARCELS 13C 047, 13C 046A, AND 13B 009.

THIS PLAT HAS BEEN CALCULATED FOR CLOSURE AND IS FOUND TO BE ACCURATE WITHIN ONE FOOT IN
754,068 FEET.

FIELD DATA WAS COLLECTED USING A TOPCON GPT2003W ELECTRONIC TOTAL STATION, A LEICA TS12
ROBOTIC TOTAL STATION AND A JAVAD TRIUMPH-LS DUAL-FREQUENCY RTK GLOBAL POSITIONING
SYSTEM RECEIVER REFERENCING THE eGPS STATEWIDE NETWORK AND HAVING A RELATIVE POSITIONAL
ACCURACY OF LESS THAN 0.04 FEET.

THE BOUNDARY SURVEY WAS COMPLETED IN DECEMBER 2019.

PORTIONS OF THE PROPERTY NEAR THE JACKSON LAKE SHORELINE ARE LOCATED WITHIN A FLOOD ZONE
AS DETERMINED FROM THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY MAP PANEL 13159C 0125D
FOR JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA DATED 06/07/2017.

EASEMENTS OR RIGHTS-OF-WAY MAY EXIST WHICH ARE NOT SHOWN HEREON AND MAY BE RECORDED
OR UNRECORDED.

COORDINATES DEPICTED HEREON REFERENCE THE GEORGIA STATE PLANE SYSTEM, WEST ZONE,
NAD83(2011), IN US FEET.  VERTICAL INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREON REFERENCES NAVD88 IN FEET.

A 25-FOOT NO DISTURBANCE BUFFER IS ESTABLISHED BY THE STATE OF GEORGIA FROM STATE WATERS
FOR EROSION CONTROL PURPOSES.

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATION:

AS REQUIRED BY SUBSECTION (D) OF O.C.G.A. 15-6-67, THIS PLAT HAS BEEN BEEN PREPARED BY A LAND
SURVEYOR.  THIS PLAT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY ALL APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTIONS THAT REQUIRE
PRIOR APPROVAL FOR RECORDING THIS TYPE OF PLAT.  FOR ANY APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTION THAT
REQUIRES APPROVAL OF THIS TYPE OF PLAT, THE NAMES OF THE INDIVIDUALS SIGNING OR APPROVING
THIS PLAT, THE AGENCY OR OFFICE OF THAT INDIVIDUAL, AND THE DATE OF APPROVAL ARE LISTED IN THE
APPROVAL TABLE SHOWN.  FOR ANY APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTION THAT DOES NOT REQUIRE APPROVAL
OF THIS TYPE OF PLAT, THE NAME OF SUCH LOCAL JURISDICTION AND THE NUMBER OF THE APPLICABLE
ORDINANCE OR RESOLUTION PROVIDING THAT NO SUCH APPROVAL IS REQUIRED ARE LISTED IN THE
APPROVAL TABLE SHOWN HEREON. SUCH APPROVALS, AFFIRMATIONS, OR ORDINANCE OR RESOLUTION
NUMBERS SHOULD BE CONFIRMED WITH THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNMENTAL BODIES BY ANY PURCHASER
OR USER OF THIS PLAT AS TO INTENDED USE OF ANY PARCEL. FURTHERMORE, THE UNDERSIGNED LAND
SURVEYOR CERTIFIES THAT THIS PLAT COMPLIES WITH THE MINIMUM TECHNICAL STANDARDS FOR
PROPERTY SURVEYS IN GEORGIA AS SET FORTH IN THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GEORGIA BOARD
OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS AND AS SET FORTH IN O.C.G.A.
SECTION 15-6-67.

BY: _________________________________ DATE:____________
                  ROBERT O. JORDAN, RLS 2902

PLANNING AND ZONING CERTIFICATION:

THIS PRELIMINARY PLAT HAS RECEIVED TENTATIVE APPROVAL  BY THE  PLANNING AND
ZONING COMMISSION OF JASPER COUNTY. NO LOTS MAY BE SOLD AND NO BUILDING
PERMITS MAY BE ISSUED BASED ON THIS TENTATIVE APPROVAL.  APPROVAL OF THE
FINAL PLAT BY JASPER COUNTY  PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION WILL BE
REQUIRED.

BY: ______________________________________    DATE:____________
     DOUG ATTAWAY,  JASPER COUNTY PLANNING DIRECTOR

HEALTH DEPARTMENT CERTIFICATION:

I CERTIFY THAT THE LOTS SHOWN ON THIS PRELIMINARY PLAT ARE
TENTATIVELY APPROVED FOR CONVENTIONAL ON-SITE SEWAGE
DISPOSAL SYSTEMS.  SOME LOTS MAY REQUIRE FURTHER
INVESTIGATION OR APPROVAL OF SEPTIC SITE PLANS PRIOR TO
PERMITTING.

BY: __________________________________  DATE:____________
      DAVID MERCER, JASPER CO. PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT

WATER AUTHORITY CERTIFICATION:

THE LOTS SHOWN HEREON WILL BE ELIGIBLE FOR WATER
SERVICE CONNECTION FROM THE WATER MAIN WITHIN
THE GEORGIA HIGHWAY 212 RIGHT-OF-WAY UPON
CONSTRUCTION AND APPROVAL OF WATER SYSTEM
EXTENSION.

BY:________________________   DATE:_____________
     ALCOVY SHORES WATER AUTHORITY

OWNER CERTIFICATION:

I CERTIFY THAT I AM THE OWNER OF THE PARCELS SHOWN HEREON, AND THAT THIS PLAN IS
SUBMITTED WITH MY APPROVAL.  I AGREE TO PERFORM THIS DEVELOPMENT IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR SUBDIVISION DEVELOPMENT IN JASPER COUNTY.  I
DEDICATE ALL PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY AND EASEMENTS TO PUBLIC USE.

BY: _________________________________       DATE:____________
  NICHOLAS PLATEK

SITE

JACKSON LAKE

NEWTON CO
JASPER CO

(LARRY'S 4-WAY)

GA 212

9/20/24

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT NOTES:

CURENT ZONING CLASSIFICATION FOR THESE PARCELS IS SINGLE-FAMILY
RESIDENTIAL (RES), HAVING A 3.0 AC MINIMUM LOT SIZE WITH 200' MINIMUM
LOT FRONTAGE AND WIDTHS.

TOTAL PROJECT AREA: 62.19 ACRES
TOTAL PROPOSED LOTS:  9 LOTS

MINIMUM DWELLING SQUARE FOOTAGE 1,800 SQ FT

SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (RES) DESIGN SPECS:
MINIMUM LOT WIDTH AT BSL: 200 FT
MINIMUM ROAD FRONTAGE: 200 FT
MINIMUM CUL-DE-SAC FRONTAGE:    60 FT
MINIMUM FRONT YARD SETBACK:       80 FT
MINIMUM SIDE YARD SETBACK:   30 FT
MINIMUM REAR YARD SETBACK:   50 FT

GREEN SPACE/OPEN SPACE SUMMARY:
AREA 1 25.44 AC
AREA 2 0.11 AC
AREA 3 0.36 AC
AREA 4A/B 0.28 AC
AREA 5 0.71 AC
AREA 6 0.40 AC
TOTAL 27.30 AC (43.9% OF THE TOTAL SUBDIVISION AREA)

THE TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN HEREON IS A COMPILATION OF REMOTE SENSING
LIDAR BY THE NATIONAL OCEANOGRAPHIC AND ATMOSPHERIC
ADMINISTRATION (NOAA) AND FIELD-FUN DATA COLLECTED BY JORDAN
ENGINEERING.  THE CONTOUR INTERVAL IS 2 FEET.

THE PROPOSED STREET WIDTH IS 22 FEET (EDGE OF PAVEMENT TO EDGE OF
PAVEMENT).

ALL PROPOSED PUBLIC ROAD RIGHTS-OF-WAY ARE 60 FEET IN WIDTH FOR THE
INSTALLATION & MAINTENANCE OF THE ROADS & ALL PUBLIC UTILITIES
SERVICING THE LOTS.

LANDERS LANE AND GRAPHIC VIEW DRIVE SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED TO JASPER
COUNTY STANDARDS AND ARE PROPOSED TO BE DEDICATED TO JASPER
COUNTY FOR PUBLIC USE.  THE PRIVATE ACCESS DRIVEWAY TO THE DERSHIMER
AND ZEHNGRAFF PARCELS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED AS PART OF THIS PROJECT
AND WILL LIE WITHIN AN ACCESS EASEMENT.  NO DEDICATION OR COUNTY
MAINTENANCE ARE PROPOSED FOR THE DRIVEWAY.

PROPOSED ROAD LENGTHS ARE AS FOLLOWS:
LANDERS LANE  2,845 LF
GRAPHIC VIEW ROAD       84 LF
TOTAL PROPOSED ROAD LENGTH       2,929 LF

A 20' UTILITY EASEMENT WILL BE CENTERED ALONG ALL WATER MAINS,
HYDRANTS, AND SUPPLY LINES.  A 10' DRAINAGE EASEMENT SHALL BE
CENTERED ON ALL INTERIOR  PROPERTY LINES.

ALL DRAINAGE EASEMENTS SHOWN ACROSS LOTS ARE 20' WIDE & SHALL
REMAIN NATURAL.  AN EASEMENT MAY BE PIPED OR MODIFIED IF APPROVED
BY THE COUNTY AND A REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER.  ONLY A
REVISED DESIGN AND COUNTY-APPROVED PLAT REVISION CAN CHANGE
EASEMENT LOCATIONS.

WASTEWATER DISPOSAL FOR LOTS SHOWN HEREON SHALL BE PERMITTED
THROUGH INDIVIDUAL SEPTIC SYSTEM PERMITS ISSUED BY THE JASPER COUNTY
HEALTH DEPARTMENT.  ALL LOTS ARE LIMITED TO 50% IMPERVIOUS SURFACE.

PUBLIC UTILITIES ARE PROPOSED AS FOLLOWS:
WATER: ALCOVY SHORES WATER AUTHORITY
SEWER: INDIVIDUAL PRIVATE SEPTIC SYSTEMS
ELECTRIC: SNAPPING SHOALS E.M.C.

*LOT 1A IS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR A RESIDENTIAL
BUILDING PERMIT.  LOT 1A IS TO BE SOLD AND
DEEDED CONCURRENTLY WITH LOT 1 TO
PROVIDE LAKE ACCESS FOR THE OWNERS OF
LOT 1.

THE TOTAL AREA OF
THE PARENT PARCELS

IS 62.19 ACRES.

POOR SEPTIC SOILS

GS/OS GREEN SPACE/OPEN SPACE

GS/OS

18

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
24'

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. 2902

AutoCAD SHX Text
R 

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
GSWCC Level II

AutoCAD SHX Text
Certified Design

AutoCAD SHX Text
Professional #118

AutoCAD SHX Text
Expires 9/27/23



19



Estimated  3 AC +/-*

*The total disturbed acreage won't be known until the civil design phase of work is completed.

9/20/24

20

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line



9/20/24

21

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line

Robert Jordan
Line



Lake Pines Subdivision 

Homeowner's Association Management Plan 

1. Introduction 

 Overview of the Homeowner's Association (HOA) 
o The Lake Pines Subdivision HOA will be responsible for ownership and 

maintenance of the 27.14 acres of open space associated with the Lake Pines 
subdivision. 

 Purpose of the management plan: 
o Allocates responsibility and guidelines for the maintenance and operation of the 

open space and any facilities located thereon, including provisions for ongoing 
maintenance and for long-term capital improvements. 

o Estimates the costs and staffing requirements needed for maintenance and 
operation of, and insurance for, the open space and outlines the means by which 
such funding will be obtained or provided. 

o Provides that any changes to the plan be approved by the Jasper County board of 
commissioners. 

o Provides for enforcement of the plan. 
 Description of the common property and open space 

o The Lake Pines subdivision open space is the 27.14 acres shown in six open space 
areas and shaded in green on the Lake Pines subdivision preliminary plat. 

2. Governance Structure 

 Board of Directors 
o Composition of the Board (number of officers, roles, etc.) 

 The Lake Pines HOA board of directors shall be three members elected for 
2-year terms. 

 Elections shall be held in February of even numbered years. 
 Board members shall be property owners of lots within Lake Pines 

subdivision or spouses of property owners who reside within Lake Pines. 
 Active board members shall be required to resign their position upon a 

sale of their property within the subdivision. 
 Special called elections shall be held to fill open positions created due to 

resignations. 
o Election Process: 

 Nomination procedure 
 Any property owner of the subdivision shall submit nominations 

for the board within 4 weeks prior to each bi-annual election. 
 Voting process 

 At a HOA meeting on the designated day in February with owners 
of at least five lots represented, the board shall announce 
nominations and hold a vote to elect board members for the 
upcoming 2-year period.  Each of the 9 lots gets 1 vote and the 

22



three nominees with the highest numbers of votes will be elected 
for the new term.  Ties will be broken with a subsequent tie-
breaker vote. 

 Term of service 
 Each director will serve for 2 years or until resignation. 

o Officer Roles and Responsibilities: 
 President 

 Will preside over board meetings and serve as the primary public 
contact for the HOA. 

 Will have HOA check-signing authority. 
 Treasurer 

 Will manage the finances for the board 
 Will be responsible for collection of HOA fees and payment of 

HOA bills 
 Will have HOA check-signing authority. 

 Secretary 
 Will record the minutes for HOA meetings 
 Will coordinate nominations for upcoming elections 
  

 Committees 
o Types of committees (e.g., maintenance, social, landscape) 

 The HOA shall create and appoint members to such committees as 
necessary for property and efficient operation of the HOA. 

 Committee members can consist of any property owner or immediate 
family member of any property owner within the subdivision. 

o Formation and dissolution of committees 
 The board of directors may, at its discretion, create and dissolve 

committees through majority vote of the board members. 
o Roles and responsibilities of committee members 

 The board, when creating a committee, shall clarify the roles and 
responsibilities of the committee. 

 The roles and responsibilities shall be recorded by the secretary in the 
minutes. 

3. Ownership and Management of Open Space 

 Ownership of Open Space 
o The HOA or property owners' association shall own the open space. 

 Upon recording of the final plat for the subdivision, the developer shall 
establish a HOA corporation and shall deed the greenspace area to the new 
HOA corporation. 

o Membership in the association is mandatory and automatic for all homeowners 
and their successors 

 Owners of lots within the subdivision are required to pay HOA dues to the 
HOA corporation. 

23



o The association shall have lien authority to ensure the collection of dues from all 
members. 

 The first board of directors, within 6 months of being elected, shall create 
a detailed set of bylaws governing the procedures for collection of dues 
and the allotted time for remittance. 

 Any property owner not complying with the HOA dues payment policy 
shall be subject to a lien on their property placed by the HOA until such 
time as the dues are paid in full. 

o Responsibility for maintaining the open space and any facilities shall be borne by 
the HOA or property owners' association. 

 The board of directors of the HOA shall, as they deem appropriate, 
allocate specific maintenance responsibilities to residents of the 
subdivision or to contractors. 

 Management Plan Requirements 
o Allocation of responsibility and guidelines for the maintenance and operation of 

the open space and any facilities 
 The board of directors may, from time to time, change the procedure for 

ensuring property maintenance of the common area within Lake Pines and 
the party(s) responsible for overseeing the maintenance. 

o Provision for ongoing maintenance and long-term capital improvements 
 The board of directors shall determine the cost of regular maintenance of 

the common areas within the subdivision and shall modify the HOA fees 
as necessary to cover the costs of that maintenance. 

 The initial HOA fee schedule and any subsequent changes to the fee 
schedule shall be proposed by the board of directors and approved by a 
majority of the lot owners prior to taking effect. 

 The HOA fees shall be payable on a schedule deemed appropriate by the 
board of directors. 

 Any long-term capital improvements should be undertaken only after 
approval of the improvements by a majority vote of all property owners 
within the development (1 vote per lot). 

o Estimation of costs and staffing requirements for maintenance, operation, and 
insurance 

 The costs of maintaining the common area within Lake Pines is estimated 
to be $2500 per year. 

 Regular maintenance tasks for the open space may include: 
 Inspection of the mail kiosk for damage 
 Repair of any damage to the mail kiosk 
 Ensuring the mail kiosk is properly lit an accessible 
 removal of litter 
 removal of large trees that might fall over adjoining property lines 

from time to time 
 monitoring the boundaries of the open space to prevent regular 

trespassing or use by persons not residing within the subdivision. 
 The cost of lighting for the mail kiosk is expected to be about $600 per 

year 

24



 The cost of basic supplies and communication for proper operation of the 
board of directors is expected to be $1000 per year 

 The cost of $1,000,000 of liability insurance for 27 wooded, undeveloped 
acres of common area is expected to be about $1000 per year. 

 The total budget of the HOA for maintenance, lighting, and operation is 
expected to be about $5100 per year. 

o Outline of funding means 
 The board of directors shall use proceeds from HOA fees to fund 

necessary maintenance of the open space areas 
o Any changes to the plan should be approved by the Jasper County board of 

commissioners if this requirement is determined to be legal by the county 
attorney. 

o Enforcement provisions for the plan 
 The board of directors of the HOA shall be responsible for monitoring and 

enforcement of the HOA policies and procedures. 

4. Common Area Maintenance 

 Responsibility 
o Identification of areas considered common property 

 The common areas to be owned by the HOA are identified on the 
preliminary plat for Lake Pines and shall be identified on the final plat for 
lake pines, which shall be recorded with the Jasper County clerk of court. 

o Designation of maintenance responsibilities 
 The HOA, through the actions and decisions of the HOA board, shall be 

responsible for all maintenance of the common areas.  No lot owner shall 
be responsible for any portion of the common area, whether adjoining 
their lot or otherwise. 

 Maintenance Schedule 
o Frequency of maintenance tasks 

 All common areas shall be inspected at least monthly for damage, litter, 
and similar issues. 

 Common areas shall be inspected or attended-to more frequently at the 
board’s discretion or upon an event resulting in damage to the open space. 

o Process for reporting maintenance issues 
 Any property owner shall report maintenance issues to any member of the 

board of directors or to any contractor designated for such a role by the 
board. 

o Contractor selection and oversight 
 The board of directors shall be responsible for selecting and monitoring 

activities of any contractors hired for maintenance and repair of common 
areas. 

 County Maintenance Responsibility 
o In the event of failure by the responsible party to maintain the open space, the 

county may assume responsibility 

25



o County may enter the premises and take corrective action, including extended 
maintenance 

o Costs incurred by the county may be charged to the HOA or individual property 
owners 

o Costs may become a lien on all subdivision properties or through a special tax 
district 

5. Financial Management 

 Budgeting 
o In March of each year, the board of directors shall establish an annual budget 

including all anticipated revenue and expenditures process. 
o Sources of income 

 Anticipated HOA fees or other sources of income shall be included in the 
budget 

o Expense management 
 Anticipated HOA expenses shall be included in the HOA budget 

 Reserve Funds 
o Purpose of reserve funds 

 The board may choose to establish a reserve fund for addressing major 
unanticipated repairs or activities for which the HOA will be responsible 

o Contribution requirements 
 All property owners shall contribute equally (an equal amount for each 

lot) to any reserve fund established by the board of directors 
 Financial Reporting 

o Frequency and format of financial reports 
 The treasurer shall provide a basic overview of the status of the HOA 

finances at each regular meeting of the HOA 
 The treasurer shall provide a detailed annual finance report to the board at 

least once per year 
o Auditing process 

 The board of directors shall determine the necessity and frequency of 
external audits of the HOA finances and operation 

6. Insurance Coverage 

 Responsibility 
o The HOA shall purchase $1,000,000 of liability insurance coverage for any 

incidents that might occur within the common area 
o HOA insurance will not cover incidents on the nine privately-owned lots. 

7. Dispute Resolution 

 Procedure 
o Steps for addressing conflicts between homeowners and the HOA 

26



 All 9 lot owners shall be members of the HOA and can propose changes in 
operation, budget, and other actions of the HOA at regular meetings. 

o Mediation and arbitration processes 
 If, after attempting to resolve conflicts within the regular meeting structure 

of the HOA, a homeowner or a minority of homeowners desires to resolve 
a dispute with the HOA, the aggrieved parties shall first attempt to resolve 
the conflict through a mediation procedure.  The aggrieved parties shall be 
responsible for payment of an arbitrator satisfactory to both parties. 

 If the arbitration process is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the 
aggrieved party or parties can pursue the issue through the court system. 

8. Amendments to the Management Plan 

 Procedure 
o Process for proposing amendments 

 The HOA, with leadership from its board of directors, may change the 
procedures and policies of the HOA through majority vote of its 9 lot 
owners. 

o Voting requirements for approval 
 Decisions by the HOA may be approved by a majority vote of the 9 lot 

owners.  Any meeting where lot-owner votes are to be held much have a 
quorum of at least 5 lots represented. 

9. Communication 

 Methods 
o Communication between the HOA and the lot owners may be through email, 

newsletters, meetings, a website, or other means deemed appropriate by the board 
of directors.  All 9 lot owners must be notified of proposed changes to the HOA 
regular meeting schedule through two-way communication or certified mail or 
some other method of communication that confirms receipt of the information. 

 Meetings 
o Frequency and format of HOA meetings 

 Regular HOA meetings shall be held at intervals selected by the board of 
directors, not to exceed one meeting per month and not less frequently 
than once per year in February. 

 Special called meetings may be scheduled an announced by the board of 
directors as necessary to address time-critical issues. 

o Notice requirements and homeowner participation 
 The board secretary is responsible for notification of each of the 9 lot 

owners at least one week prior to each regular meeting of the HOA with 
the time and location of the proposed meeting. 

 Lot owners are not required to attend HOA meetings, but must be present 
to cast votes on decisions made by the HOA. 

10. Compliance 

27



 Regulations 
o Reference should be made to the Official Code of Georgia Annotated and to the 

ordinances of Jasper County regarding regulations governing homeowners 
associations. 

o The board of directors and members of the Lake Pines HOA shall not take any 
actions that are in conflict with state and local HOA provisions. 

11. Conclusion 

 The purpose of the Lake Pines HOA will be to properly manage the common areas of 
Lake Pines Subdivision to ensure they are safe, attractive, and accessible to the residents 
of the subdivision. 

 The HOA and board of directors shall commit to transparency in all of its actions and 
operate in a manner beneficial to the residents of Lake Pines Subdivision. 

 

28



1

Doug Attaway

From: Robert Jordan <robert@jordan-eng.com>
Sent: Friday, November 15, 2024 2:30 PM
To: Tyson, Brock; Platek, Nick; McCants, Joya C
Cc: Collins, Kedrick; Doug Attaway
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission

Thank you 
 
Robert O. Jordan, PE RLS 

 
 
From: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>  
Sent: Friday, November 15, 2024 2:29 PM 
To: Robert Jordan <robert@jordan-eng.com>; Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>; McCants, Joya C 
<JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
Robert, 
Here is the guidance from GDOT’s ICE policy. An ICE would not be required. 
 

Brock M. Tyson, P.E. 
Asst. District Traffic Engineer 
 

29



2

 
 
643 Highway 15 South 
Tennille, GA, 31089  
Office 478-553-3366 
 

From: Robert Jordan <robert@jordan-eng.com>  
Sent: Friday, November 15, 2024 2:22 PM 
To: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>; Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Brock, 
At the end of the review process for the prior decel lane design at Landers Lane, there was a requirement from 
GDOT for an intersecƟon alternaƟves analysis process.  Can you confirm that Mr. Platek will not need to 
submit an alternaƟves analysis to accompany our plans for the proposed improvements? 
Thank you, 
Robert 
 
Robert O. Jordan, PE RLS 

 
 
From: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>  
Sent: Friday, November 15, 2024 2:11 PM 
To: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
Hi Nick, 
Based on the exisƟng traffic counts and generaƟon, it doesn’t appear that auxiliary lanes will be warranted with the 
addiƟonal development as the number of proposed homes have been reduced to 9. As discussed, the access 
connecƟon(Landers Lane)  to SR 212 shall be 24’ wide to accommodate 2-way traffic and will be considered commercial 
access. A commercial driveway/special encroachment permit will be required to modify the exisƟng access. I am 
including our checklist for your use and please make a formal submission in GPAS once you are ready to apply for 
permiƫng. Please let us know if you have quesƟons. 
Thanks, 
Brock 
 
hƩps://gpas.dot.ga.gov/  
 
Brock M. Tyson, P.E. 
Asst. District Traffic Engineer 

30



3

 

 
 
643 Highway 15 South 
Tennille, GA, 31089  
Office 478-553-3366 
 

From: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>  
Sent: Thursday, October 24, 2024 4:33 PM 
To: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Hi Brock,  
 
We did a traffic count November of last year. Hard data and report is aƩached.   
 
Key Details: 
-The manual count was taken over an 18 hour period on Wednesday November 15th 
-Each turn in and turnout was documented (Raw data included in the report) 
-Based on the data the findings are as follows: 
               1. Total number of Current Houses: 12 
               2. Total Round Trips Per Day: 52.5 
               3. Total Round Trips per Day Per House: 4.375 
               4. 52% of the traffic turned in and 48% of the traffic turned out  
               5. Of the turn ins 63% came from the right and 37% came in from the leŌ 
 
**Ignore the future traffic forecasts on that report as the quanƟty of houses proposed was higher last year than this 
year (Down from 27 to 21) 
 
Best,  
Nick   

From: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, October 24, 2024 4:27 PM 
To: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
Hi Nick, 
Where are you pulling your 4.375 round trips per house from? 
Thanks, 
Brock 
 
Brock M. Tyson, P.E. 

31



4

Asst. District Traffic Engineer 
 

 
 
643 Highway 15 South 
Tennille, GA, 31089  
Office 478-553-3366 
 

From: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>  
Sent: Thursday, October 24, 2024 4:24 PM 
To: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 
Hi Brock,  
 
Do you have any other quesƟons for me?  
 
We are going in front of Jasper County Planning & Zoning on Nov. 21st with the updated plat and would love the 
direcƟonal support form GDOT.  
 
Best,  
Nick  
 
1001 Summit Boulevard #2100 
Atlanta, GA 30319 
M 513.213.7184 
mailto: Nick.Platek@sap.com 
 

From: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 12:14 PM 
To: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
Hi Brock,  
 
I believe you are asking for the follow informaƟon based on the traffic study (Updated to reflect the new # of houses): 
 
Future Traffic Forecast based on traffic study: 
ExisƟng Houses 12 
New Houses 9 
Total Houses 21 
Round Trip per House 4.375 
Total Round Trips Daily 91.77 

32



5

Total Trips Entering (52%) 47.72 
Total Trips ExiƟng (48%)  
Total RTV (63% of turn ins) 30.06 
 

 
 
Based on the reducƟon in houses, we are significantly below the GDOT RTV thresholds.  
 
Let me know if you are looking for any other informaƟon.  
 
Best,  
Nick  
 
 
 

From: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>  
Sent: Tuesday, October 15, 2024 11:26 AM 
To: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: RE: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
Nick, 
Can you include the trip gen/distribuƟon we discussed? 
Thanks, 
Brock 
 
Brock M. Tyson, P.E. 
Asst. District Traffic Engineer 
 

 
 
643 Highway 15 South 
Tennille, GA, 31089  
Office 478-553-3366 
 

From: Platek, Nick <nick.platek@sap.com>  
Sent: Thursday, October 10, 2024 11:15 AM 

33



6

To: Tyson, Brock <brtyson@dot.ga.gov>; McCants, Joya C <JMcCants@dot.ga.gov> 
Cc: Collins, Kedrick <kecollins@dot.ga.gov>; Doug Attaway <dattaway@jaspercountyga.org>; Robert Jordan 
<robert@jordan-eng.com> 
Subject: Jasper County: Lake Pines Update for P&Z Submission 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the 
sender and know the content is safe. 

 

Hi Brock and Joya, 

It was great speaking with you this morning. As discussed, I’ve attached the updated development plans submitted for 
preliminary plat approval with Jasper County Planning and Zoning. The P&Z review meeting is scheduled for November 
21st. 

As part of this presentation, I would like to include communication from GDOT showing support for the development. 

Key Details Requested: 

1. Current Existing House Count: 12 Homes 
o 4 on Waters Branch Road 
o 8 on Graphic View Road 

2. Planned Addition: 9 Homes 
3. Total Future Home Count: 21 Homes 
4. Greenspace Allocation: Approximately 27 acres, which will remain undeveloped and placed into conservation. 

Meeting the GDOT standard for road width at the entrance is something we’ve discussed and will accommodate. 

Would it be possible for you to send an email or letter supporting the direction of our development?  

Thank you for your continued support over the past few years. We’re getting close! 

Best, 
Nick 

Nick Platek 
  
 
1001 Summit Boulevard #2100 
Atlanta, GA 30319 
M 513.213.7184 
mailto: Nick.Platek@sap.com 

 
 

 
Human trafficking impacts every corner of the globe, including our state and local communities. Georgia DOT is 
committed to end human trafficking in Georgia through education enabling its employees and the public to recognize the 
signs of human trafficking and how to react in order to help make a change. To learn more about the warning signs of 
human trafficking, visit https://doas.ga.gov/human-resources-administration/human-trafficking-awareness/trafficking-in-
georgia. To report any suspicious activity, call the Georgia Human Trafficking Hotline at 866-363-4842. Let’s band 
together to end human trafficking in Georgia. 

34



Business Item 1: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Preliminary Plat 24-001,  Lake Pines Subdivision off Landers Lane. 

   

 

 

Summary: The 62.19 acres comprise of three parcels of land that are designed to be a conservation subdivision 

with a total of 9 lots. The property has road frontage on Hwy 212 W,  Landers Lane, and Graphic View Drive. 

The property is currently zoned RES and the density is one primary dwelling unit per five acres.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the preliminary plat with the following 

changes, identify greenspace as open space, add a lot frontage table, identify the non-buildable buffers in the 

green space, and place the CBU (mail Kiosk) outside of the right of way. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

 

 

 

 

 

  

35



Public Hearing 2: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning and Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Land Division Plat off Hwy 212 W  

 

 

Summary: 22.07 acres requesting to be subdivided off of Hwy 212 W.  The applicant has exceeded the 

administrative limits allowed within the past 24 months for dividing land under the minor plat ordinance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted to recommend the Land Division Plat with a 4-0 vote 

 

 

 

  

36



6"x6"
CONCRETE

MONUMENT
GOVERNMENT
CORNER - Y4

WITNESSED BY
1" REBAR

NOF
033 071

CALLIE FULLER
BAPTIST TABERNACLE

D.B. 141, p. 345
P.B. 9, p. 189
P.B. 8, p. 305

5/8
" R

EBAR

HO
G 

W
IR

E 
FE

N
CE

1/2
" R

EBAR

1/2" OTP

BARBED WIRE FENCE

6"x6"
CONCRETE

MONUMENT
GOVERNMENT
CORNER - Y3

NOF
027 097 001

SAMUEL JOSEPH SMITH, III
D.B. 593, p. 196
P.B. 11, p. 310

NOF
027 040

GARVEY LIVING TRUST
D.B. 1128, p. 93

P.B. 12, p. 92

NOF
033 051 02A

TIMOTHY O'BRIEN CAMP
D.B. 984, p. 210
P.B. 11, p. 643

N81°21'28"E
208.62'

S4
6°

52
'2

4"
W

  4
44

.4
7'

S4
6°

52
'2

4"
W

  1
43

.8
3'

S4
6°

54
'1

6"
W

  5
18

.2
2'

N45°02'19"W
Ch=554.10'
R=2131.04'

A=555.67'

N37°39'12"W  187.82'

N
51

°0
8'

52
"E

  2
32

.3
0'

N82
°3

8'0
4"

E  
48

9.7
2'

N7
4°

42
'0

1"
E  

61
3.

11
'

S42°49'57"E  744.58'
S42°49'57"E  293.82'

2.1
-A

CR
E P

OND

EARTH DAM

PO
OL

CR
EE

K
CREEK

TRACT C1
ACRES

WOODED

WOODED

PASTURE

APPROXIMATE TREELINE

BA
RB

W
IR

E F
EN

CE

W
OO

DE
N 

FE
NC

E

BARN

BARN

BARN

2-STORY
BRICK
HOUSE

1-
ST

OR
Y

FR
AM

E 
HO

US
E

BA
RN

W
O

O
DEN

 FEN
CE

CO
NCRETE DRIVE

GR
AV

EL
 D

RI
VE

CO
NC

RE
TE

 D
RI

VE

S53°03'45"E  514.81'

S53°22'25"E  410.03'

N53°23'46"W
297.74'

CONC R/W

N:1211491.40
E:2428265.27

WOODEN FENCE
MON

BA
RB

W
IR

E F
EN

CE

OVERHEAD POWER

AP
PA

RE
N

T 
30

' O
.H

. P
O

W
ER

 E
AS

EM
EN

T

AP
PA

RE
N

T 
30

' O
.H

. P
O

W
ER

 E
AS

EM
EN

T

80' BSL

30
' B

SL

50' BSL

30
' B

SL

W
OO

DE
N 

FE
NC

E

NOF
027 041 002

TRACT B
MICHAEL SMITH
D.B. 1221, p. 22
P.B. 12, p. 488

TRACT C2
7.00

ACRES15.07

50' BSL

N
53

°5
0'

09
"E

  1
17

7.
87

'

SEE
NOTE "A"

N53°10'02"W
Ch=48.98'

R=2131.04'
A=48.98'

30
' B

SL

30
' B

SL

80' BSL

TO 5/8" REBAR

S42°49'57"E  198.70'

DEMOLITION
IN PROGRESS

NOF
027 041 002

TRACT B
MICHAEL SMITH
D.B. 1221, p. 22
P.B. 12, p. 488

25' ASPHALT

GA HWY 212

100' R/W

APPROXIMATE TREELINE

TOTAL ROAD FRONTAGE
TRACT C1 - 743.49 FEET
TRACT C2 - 346.72 FEET

CHU
RCH

THE TOTAL AREA OF
TRACTS C1 AND C2 IS

22.07 ACRES

S40°44'49"E
908.98'

N: 1212180.04
E: 2427671.96

FROM A PK NAIL AT
THE INTERSECTION OF
CENTERLINES OF
HWY 212 AND
SEVEN ISLANDS RD

TIE:

HAVING COORDINATES

P.O.B.:

VICINITY MAP

SITE

GA HW
Y 11

GA HW
Y 212

SEVEN ISL.

MALO
NE DR

(706) 468-8999      www.jordan-eng.com
144 N. WARREN ST.   MONTICELLO, GA 31064

Engineering    Surveying    Soils    UAV Mapping

Corporate License No. LSF 000768

FOR CLERK'S OFFICE USE

DENOTES PAINTED TREES, FENCE, OR
OTHER EVIDENCE NEAR THE PROPERTY
LINE.  SEE CODE BELOW.  THE NUMBER
IS FEET FROM THE LINE AND ARROW
IS DIRECTION FROM LINE EVIDENCE FOUND.

B: BLUE PAINT
Y: YELLOW PAINT
R: RED PAINT

W: WHITE PAINT
BW: BARBED WIRE
HW: HOG WIRE

TP: STEEL TEE POST O: ORANGE PAINT

LL

P.O.B.

D.B.

POWER POLE

POINT OF BEGINNING

DEED BOOK
P.B.

LAND LOT
PLAT BOOK

2/1

OVERHEAD POWER

BEARING CHANGE (NO PIN SET)
" SOLID ROD (REBAR) SET

ADJOINING PROPERTY BOUNDARY

OPEN-TOP PIPE FOUND
LEGEND

SOLID ROD (REBAR) FOUND P.O.R. POINT OF REFERENCE
NOF NOW OR FORMERLY

OTP OPEN-TOP PIPE
CMF CONCRETE MON FND

EASEMENT

SURVEYOR'S PK NAIL SET

CONCRETE MONUMENT FD

CREEK OR SHORELINE

SUBJECT PROPERTY BOUNDARY

SURFACE WATER
ASPHALT

STRUCTURE
WIRE FENCE
APPROX. TREELINE
EDGE OF GRAVEL/DIRT

OCTOBER 14, 2024SCALE 

GEORGIA MILITIA DISTRICT 379
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA

ROBERT KEITH BENTLEY
LAND LOT 41, DISTRICT 16

PROPERTY DIVISION SURVEY FOR

1" = 100'

0' 100' 200' 300'

AND LYNN MOSELEY BENTLEY

SUBJECT PROPERTY INFORMATION:
CURRENT OWNERS: ROBERT KEITH BENTLEY AND LYNN
MOSELEY BENTLEY
DEED RECORD: D.B. 909, p. 112
PLAT RECORD: P.B. 6, p. 447
TAX RECORD: TAX PARCEL 027 041

THE FIELD DATA UPON WHICH THIS PLAT IS BASED HAS
A CLOSURE PRECISION OF ONE FOOT IN 27,670 FEET,
AND AN ANGULAR ERROR OF 0" PER ANGLE POINT,
AND WAS ADJUSTED USING THE LEAST SQUARES
METHOD.

THIS PLAT CLOSURE ACCURACY IS 1 FOOT IN 248,986
FEET FOR TRACT C1 AND 1 FOOT IN 116,045 FEET FOR
TRACT C2.

FIELD DATA WAS COLLECTED USING A TOPCON GM52
TOTAL STATION AND A JAVAD TRIUMPH-LS+
DUAL-FREQUENCY RTK GNSS RECEIVER REFERENCING
THE TRIMBLE VRS-NOW REAL-TIME NETWORK AND
HAVING A RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY OF LESS
THAN 0.04 FEET.

THE FIELD SURVEY WAS COMPLETED IN JUNE 2024.

NO PORTIONS OF THE PROPERTY SHOWN HEREON ARE
LOCATED WITHIN A FLOODPLAIN AS DETERMINED
FROM THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
AGENCY MAP PANEL 13159C 0130D FOR JASPER
COUNTY, GEORGIA DATED 10-13-22.

EASEMENTS OR RIGHTS-OF-WAY MAY EXIST WHICH
ARE NOT SHOWN HEREON AND MAY BE RECORDED OR
UNRECORDED.

HORIZONTAL: STATE PLANE, WEST ZONE, NAD83
(2011).

NOTE "A"
1/2" REBAR FOUND

ON LINE 1.21' NORTH
OF CORNER AT R/W

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATION
As required by subsection (d) of O.C.G.A. 15-6-67, this plat has
been been prepared by a land surveyor.  This plat has been
approved by all applicable local jurisdictions that require prior
approval for recording this type of plat.  For any applicable local
jurisdiction that requires approval of this type of plat, the names
of the individuals signing or approving this plat, the agency or
office of that individual, and the date of approval are listed in the
approval table shown.  For any applicable local jurisdiction that
does not require approval of this type of plat, the name of such
local jurisdiction and the number of the applicable ordinance or
resolution providing that no such approval is required are listed
in the approval table shown hereon. Such approvals,
affirmations, or ordinance or resolution numbers should be
confirmed with the appropriate governmental bodies by any
purchaser or user of this plat as to intended use of any parcel.
Furthermore, the undersigned land surveyor certifies that this
plat complies with the minimum technical standards for property
surveys in Georgia as set forth in the rules and regulations of the
Georgia Board of Registration for Professional Engineers and
Land Surveyors and as set forth in O.C.G.A. Section 15-6-67.

__________________________
Robert O. Jordan, GA RLS 2902

______________________________
PLAT IS APPROVED FOR RECORDING
Doug Attaway, Jasper County Planning Director

ROAD

GA HWY 16

GRID
 GA-W

N

37

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
HW

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
HW

AutoCAD SHX Text
HW

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
HW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
HW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND LOT 41

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND LOT 20

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. 2902

AutoCAD SHX Text
R 

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S:\ZARCHIVES\SURVEY ARCHIVES\2024\BENTLEY, ROBERT K HWY 212\DWG\BENLEY, KEITH - TRACTS C1 AND C2 R0.DWG  October 14, 2024  October 14, 2024October 14, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
3



Business Item 2: 

 

Agenda Request 2– Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 024 

 

 

Subject: Land Division Plat off Hwy 212 W  

   

 

 

Summary:  22.07 acres requesting to be subdivided off of Hwy 212 W.  The applicant has exceeded the 

administrative limits allowed within the past 24 months for dividing land under the minor plat ordinance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted to recommend the Land Division Plat with a 4-0 vote 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

38



 

 

Public Hearing 3: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning and Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, Section 119-

383. -Walls, fences and planting. Removing R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning and replacing with RES 

zoning. 

 

 

Summary: The Board of Commissioners voted to remove R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning on March 6, 

2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the ordinance amendment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

39



Sec. 119-383. Walls, fences and planting. 

Walls and fences and ornamental trees and shrubs may be located within the yards except:  

(1) In any R-1, R-2, RL-1, RL-2, or RL-3  RES district, no wall or fence in a front yard shall exceed a height of four feet and shall 
not exceed eight feet in height in any side or rear yard.  

(2) In all districts, no fence, wall, shrubbery, sign, marquee, or other obstruction to vision between the heights of three feet 
and 15 feet shall be permitted within 20 feet of the intersection of the right-of-way lines of two streets or of a street 
intersection with a railroad right-of-way line.  

(Ord. of 7-20-2009, § 74) 

 

  

40



Business Item 3:  

 

Agenda Request 3 – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 024 

 

 

Subject: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, Section 119-

383. -Walls, fences and planting. Removing R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning and replacing with RES 

zoning. 

   

 

 

Summary:  The Board of Commissioners voted to remove R-1, R-2, RL, RL-1, and RL-3 zoning on March 6, 

2023.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the ordinance amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

 

 

  

41



 

 

 

 

Public Hearing 4: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning and Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, Section 119-

391.- Required Buffer Areas. Removing RR, R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning and replacing with RES zoning.. 

 

Summary: The Board of Commissioners voted to remove R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning on March 6, 2023 and R-R 

zoning on May 6, 2024  

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the ordinance amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

42



Sec. 119-391. Required buffer areas. 

Buffer areas shall be established and maintained by the property owner under the following provisions:  

(1) A 50-foot-wide buffer area which provides visual screening and may be required to provide a screening fence or wall on 
the interior edge of the buffer shall be established and maintained by the owner in any required side or rear yard when a 
development in a C-1, C-2 or M district adjoins RR, R-2, R-1, or V-P RES zoning district. Minimum fence or wall height shall 
be six feet.  

(2) The requirements for a fence or wall may be waived by the director of planning upon presentation of field survey analysis 
prepared by a licensed architect, landscape architect, or engineer demonstrating that construction of the fence or wall 
would destroy existing vegetation which, in itself, provides visual screening between the development and the adjoining 
residential district.  

(3) Required buffer areas shall be maintained as a planted area, using existing vegetation or, when required, additional 
plantings as provided in this section.  

(4) Required buffer areas shall be appropriately landscaped with trees and shrubs and may be enhanced with flowers, grass, 
stone, rocks and other natural landscaping materials.  

(5) Required buffer areas shall not be used for parking or a structure other than a fence or drainage improvements required 
by the county. However, a buffer area may be used for vehicular access and utility easements if these are constructed 
approximately perpendicular to the greater distance of the buffer area. Buffers may also contain drainage improvements 
required by the county based upon competent engineering studies showing the improvements to be necessary, if 
approved by the county engineer.  

(6) Except as otherwise provided, the natural topography of the land shall be preserved and natural growth shall not be 
disturbed beyond that which is necessary to prevent a nuisance, to thin natural growth where too dense for normal 
growth, or to remove diseased, misshapen or dangerous and decayed timbers. However, a slope easement may be 
cleared and graded where required to prevent soil erosion upon approval of the public works director; this easement may 
cover no more than 20 percent of the required buffer space, and shall be immediately replanted upon completion of 
easement improvements.  

(7) Where the conditions described in subsection (6) of this section cannot be met by reason of the topography of the land or 
due to the prior removal or lack of vegetation and foliage, the owner of the buffer area shall install a permanent screen of 
evergreen plantings, so designed and developed to provide visual screening between the property described herein. 
These plantings shall consist of a mix of hardwoods and evergreens indigenous to the state's Piedmont area in order to 
mirror what is native and will sustain life in the Piedmont area. These plantings shall not be less than six feet in height, or 
trees or shrubs what will, in normal growth, attain a height of six feet within three years. The following plants are 
suggested, but not limited to, for this purpose: Southern Magnolia, Eastern Red Cedar, Sassafras, Maple, and Poplar. A 
certified master gardener, landscape architect, or the UGA Extension Service may be consulted for additional planting 
recommendations. Other plants may be suitable, provided they can form a hardy screen, dense enough and high enough 
both to interrupt vision and diffuse the transmission of sound. Plants selected should not be exotic or invasive.  

(8) Any grading, improvements or construction adjacent thereto shall be conducted far enough from the buffer area so as not 
to disturb or encroach upon trees within the buffer area.  

(9) Required buffer areas shall be designated on each subdivision plat, concept plan, or construction plan and shall be 
recorded as a permanent easement.  

(Ord. of 7-20-2009, § 82) 

 

  

43



Business Item 4:  

 

Agenda Request 4 – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2024 

 

 

Subject: Ordinance Amendment to Part II, Code of Ordinances which includes Chapter 119, Section 119-

391.- Required Buffer Areas. Removing RR, R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning and replacing with RES zoning. 

   

 

 

Summary:  The Board of Commissioners voted to remove R-1, R-2, and V-P zoning on March 6, 2023 and R-R 

zoning on May 6, 2024  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  The Planning & Zoning Board voted 5-0 to recommend the ordinance amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

  

44



Presentations/Delegations – Jasper County BOC 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

Subject: Recognition of Barbara Jo Cook’s Service to Jasper County 

 

   

 

  

45



A RESOLUTION 

Honoring and Recognizing Barbara Jo Cook for Her Outstanding Contributions and Dedicated 

Service to Jasper County, Georgia and Southern Crescent Technical College 

WHEREAS, Barbara Jo Cook has faithfully and diligently served the State of Georgia for over 45 years, 

dedicating her professional life to education and workforce development, including numerous leadership roles at 

Southern Crescent Technical College, such as Vice President of Institutional Advancement, Provost, Academic 

Dean, Department Chair, and Instructor; and 

WHEREAS, she has demonstrated steadfast commitment to the goals, vision, and mission of Southern Crescent 

Technical College, and her exceptional dedication was recognized when she was named the state winner of the 

Rick Perkins Award of Excellence in Technical Instruction in 2001; and 

WHEREAS, at Southern Crescent Technical College, she played a pivotal role in developing the first state 

curriculum in English for developmental studies, facilitating accreditation processes, expanding the College 

Foundation’s assets to over $5.65 million, and spearheading numerous successful fundraising events; and 

WHEREAS, her efforts have been instrumental in securing major gifts for the College’s Foundation, including 

the largest cash donation of $1,000,000 from the Dundee Community Association, and achieving Role Model 

status for the College’s Foundation for ten consecutive years; and 

WHEREAS, her personal and professional life exemplifies dedication to education, service, and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Jasper County Board of Commissioners hereby honors 

and recognizes Barbara Jo Cook for her extraordinary contributions to Jasper County, her unwavering 

commitment to Southern Crescent Technical College, and her impactful legacy in education and community 

service. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that a copy of this resolution be presented to Barbara Jo Cook as a token of 

gratitude and appreciation for her exemplary service. 

  

 

 
_________________________                            ________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman                                           Sheila Jefferson, Clerk                

 

  

46



Business Item 5: 

 

Appointments –  

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:  January 6, 2025 

 

Subject:   Appointment of Chairman 

 

Summary: 

The County Charter states in Section 1C that: the board of commissioners shall, at its first meeting in January, 

elect a chairman from among its membership to serve for a one-year term. 

 

 

 

 

Background: 

Same as Above 

 

 

 

 

Cost: None 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion:  

Board Discretion 

 

  

47



Business Item 6: 

 

Appointments –  

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:  January 6, 2025 

 

Subject:   Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

 

Summary: 

The County Charter states in Section 1C that: the board of commissioners shall, at its first meeting in January, 

elect a vice-chairman from among its membership to serve for a one-year term. 

 

 

 

Background: 

Same as Above 

 

 

 

 

Cost: None 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion:  

Board Discretion 

 

  

48



Business Item 7: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:  January 6, 2025 

 

Subject:   Appointment of County Attorney 

 

Summary: 

The County Attorney Appointment is done at the first meeting each year for the attorney to serve for a one-year 

term.   

 

Staff recommends appointing The Nelson Law Group as county attorney for 2025. 

 

Background: 

 

 

Cost: None 

 

Recommended Motion: 

 

Appoint The Nelson Law Group as the county attorney for 2025. 

  

49



Business Item 8: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:  January 6, 2026 

 

Subject:   Appointment of County Clerk 

 

Summary: 

The Board of Commissioners needs to designate a County Clerk to serve for a one-year term. 

 

Staff recommends appointing Sheila Jefferson as County Clerk. 

 

 

Background: 

 

 

Cost:  

 

Recommended Motion:  

Appoint Sheila Jefferson as County Clerk for 2025. 

 

 

  

50



Business Item 9: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Emergency Management Agency 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: 2025 Hazard Mitigation Plan Update RFP Planning 

   

 

 

Summary:  

 

The State of Georgia and FEMA require Jasper County to maintain a current and up-to-date Mitigation Plan. The 

current plan is about to expire and must be rewritten to meet new FEMA and State of Georgia requirements. 

Jasper County has received a Mitigation planning reimbursement grant to complete this work. The request is to 

move forward with this bidding process and plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  

Jasper County has accepted the reimbursement grant to complete this work. Time is of the essence to maintain 

Jasper County’s eligibility for mitigation grant projects.   

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:   

$22,000 reimbursement grant 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

Approve EMA to bid out services to update the Jasper County Mitigation Plan to be funded by a FEMA 

reimbursement grant. 

  

51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



Business Item 10: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Emergency Management Agency 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement 

   

 

 

Summary:  

The State of Georgia maintains this mutual aid agreement through the Georgia Emergency Management Agency/ 

Office of Homeland Security (GEMA/HS). This agreement meets the requirements set forth by FEMA to allow 

across-state jurisdictions to assist each other and for those jurisdictions to receive reimbursement for assistance 

provided. Unlike other mutual aid agreements, this agreement addresses all local jurisdictions and their agencies 

and services. 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  

The Georgia State-Wide Mutual Aid Agreement must be renewed every four years. This will be Jasper County's 

fifth renewal. The City of Monticello and Shady Dale must renew and sign for their jurisdictions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

Adopt the Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement as presented and authorize chairman to execute. 

  

63



STATEWIDE MUTUAL AID AND ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT 

 
County/Municipality:  Jasper County Georgia  

 

 

The State of Georgia is vulnerable to a wide range of natural and man-made disasters and emergencies. 

The Georgia Emergency Management Act, as amended (The Act) gives the local governments of the 

State the authority to make agreements for mutual aid assistance in emergencies. Pre-existing 

agreements for mutual aid assistance in emergencies help to ensure the timely provision of mutual aid 

assistance and the reimbursement of costs incurred by those parties who render such assistance. 

 

This mutual aid agreement is entered pursuant to authorities contained in Articles I through III, 

Chapter 3, Title 38, Official Code of Georgia Annotated. 

 

ARTICLE I 

STATEMENT OF AGREEMENT, DEFINITIONS AND AUTHORITIES 
 

This Agreement is made and entered into between the participating political subdivisions, which 

approve and execute this Agreement, hereinafter called "Participating Parties" and the Georgia 

Emergency Management and Homeland Security Agency (GEMA/HS). For purposes of this 

Agreement, the following terms and expressions shall apply: 

 

(1) "Agreement" means this agreement, generally referred to as the "Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement" 

(SWMAA). 

 

(2) "Assistance" includes personnel, equipment, facilities, services, supplies and other resources 

furnished to a Requesting Party pursuant to this Agreement during an emergency or disaster. 

 

(3) "Assisting Party" means a party that provides assistance pursuant to this Agreement during an 

emergency or disaster. 

 

(4) "Authorized Representative" means a Participating Party's elected or appointed official or 

employee who has been authorized in writing by that party to request, to offer, or otherwise to provide 

mutual aid assistance. 

 

(5) "Participating Party" means a county or municipality of the State of Georgia that has become party 

to this Agreement by its approval and execution of this agreement. 

 

(6) “Participating Parties” means the combination of counties and municipalities that have become 

parties to this Agreement by their approval and execution of this Agreement. 

 

(7) "Requesting Party" means a party that requests assistance pursuant to this Agreement during an 

emergency or disaster. 

 

Any term or expression not defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified in the Georgia 

Emergency Management Act, as amended (the Act) and rules promulgated thereunder, unless used in a 

context that clearly suggests a different meaning. 
 

 

 
 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 

Page 1 of 8 

64



Page 2 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 
 

ARTICLE II 

GENERAL PURPOSE 
 

The purpose of this Agreement is to: 

 

1. Provide the framework to support mutual assistance in managing an emergency or disaster 

occurring within any political subdivision that is a Participating Party, whether arising from 

natural disaster, technological hazard, human caused disaster, civil emergency, community 

disorders, insurgency, enemy attack, acts of terrorism, other significant events or homeland 

security activity; and 

 

2. Identify those persons who are authorized to act on behalf of the Participating Party signing this 

Agreement as their Authorized Representative(s) concerning the provision of mutual aid 

resources and requests for mutual aid resources related to any mutual aid assistance sought 

from another Participating Party, or from or through the State of Georgia. Appendix A of this 

Agreement shall contain the name(s) of the Participating Party’s Authorized Representative for 

purposes of this Agreement. Appendix A can be amended by the authorizing Participating Party 

as needed with no effect on the entire Agreement. All such amendments to Appendix A shall be 

done in writing and the Participating Party shall notify GEMA/HS and all other Participating 

Parties of such amendment within thirty (30) days. 

 

ARTICLE III 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
 

The prompt, full and effective utilization of resources of the Participating Parties, including any 

resources on hand or available from the State or Federal Government or any other source, that are 

essential to the safety, care and welfare of the people shall be the underlying principle on which all 

articles of this Agreement shall be understood. 

 

In the event of a conflict between any provision of this Agreement and any existing intrastate mutual 

aid agreement affecting a Participating Party, the provisions of this Agreement shall be controlling. 

 

On behalf of the governing authority of each political subdivision of this State participating in the 

Agreement, the director of emergency management of such political subdivision will be responsible for 

formulation of the appropriate mutual aid plans and procedures necessary to implement this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

PARTICIPATING PARTY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

(a) It shall be the responsibility of each Participating Party to formulate procedures and programs for 

intergovernmental cooperation in the performance of the responsibilities listed in this Article. In 

formulating such plans, and in carrying them out, each Participating Party, insofar as practical, shall: 

 

(1) Protect and assure uninterrupted delivery of services, medicines, water, food, energy and fuel, 

search and rescue, and critical lifeline equipment, services, and resources, both human and 

material; and 

65



Page 3 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 
 

 

(2) Inventory and set procedures for the loan and delivery of human and material resources, 

together with procedures for reimbursement. 

 

(b) Whenever a Participating Party requires mutual aid assistance from another Participating Party 

and/or the State of Georgia, the Requesting Party may request assistance by: 

 

(1) Contacting the Participating Party who is the owner/operator/employer of the supplies, 

equipment and/or personnel being sought for mutual aid assistance (the Assisting Party); or 

 

(2) Contacting GEMA/HS to serve as the facilitator of such request for those resources being 

sought for mutual aid that are owned/operated/employed by Participating Parties (where such 

Participating Parties have submitted a record of those resources to GEMA/HS for such use); and/or, 

when such resources being sought for mutual aid are owned/operated/employed directly by the State of 

Georgia. 

 

The provisions of this Agreement shall only apply to requests for assistance made by an Authorized 

Representative. Requests may be verbal or in writing. If verbal, the request must be confirmed in 

writing within 30 days of the verbal request. Requests shall provide the following information: 

 

(1) A description of the emergency service function for which assistance is needed, such as but not 

limited to fire services, law enforcement, emergency medical, transportation, communications, 

public works and engineering, building inspection, planning and information assistance, mass care, 

resource support, health and medical services, damage assessment, volunteer and donated goods 

and search and rescue; and 

 

(2) The amount and type of personnel, equipment, materials and supplies needed, and a reasonable 

estimate of the length of time each will be needed; and 

 

(3) The specific place and time for staging of the Assisting Party's response and a point of contact 

at that location. 

 

The Assisting Party will (a) maintain daily personnel time records, material records and a log of 

equipment hours (or miles, if appropriate) and (b) report work progress to the Requesting Party at 

mutually agreed upon intervals. 

 

ARTICLE V 

LIMITATIONS 
 

Any Participating Party requested to render mutual aid shall take such action as is necessary to provide 

and make available the resources covered by this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof; 

provided that it is understood that the Participating Party who is asked to render aid may withhold 

resources to the extent necessary to meet the current or anticipated needs of the Participating Party’s 

own political subdivision to remain in compliance with such Participating Party’s policy, rule or law. 

 

The Assisting Party’s mutual aid resources will continue under the command and control of their own 

66



Page 4 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 
 

supervisors, but the organizational units will be under the operational control of the emergency 

services authorities of the Requesting Party unless the Assisting Party approves an alternative. 

 

In the event the Governor should declare a State of Emergency, any and all provisions of this 

Agreement which may conflict with the declared State of Emergency shall be superseded by the terms 

and conditions contained within the State of Emergency. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

LIABILITY AND IMMUNITY 
 

(a) In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-35(a), no political subdivision of the state, nor the agents or 

representatives of the state or any political subdivision thereof, shall be liable for personal injury or 

property damage sustained by any person appointed or acting as a volunteer emergency management 

worker or member of any agency engaged in emergency management activity. The foregoing shall not 

affect the right of any person to receive benefits or compensation to which he might otherwise be 

entitled under Chapter 9 of Title 34, Code Section 38-3-30, any pension law, or any act of Congress. 

 

(b) In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-35(b), no political subdivision of the state nor, except in cases 

of willful misconduct, gross negligence, or bad faith, the employees, agents, or representatives of the 

state or any political subdivision thereof, nor any volunteer or auxiliary emergency management 

worker or member of any agency engaged in any emergency management activity complying with or 

reasonably attempting to comply with Articles 1 through 3, Chapter 3, Title 38, Official Code of 

Georgia Annotated; or any order, rule, or regulation promulgated pursuant to Articles 1 through 3 of 

title, or pursuant to any ordinance relating to precautionary measures enacted by any political 

provisions of Articles 1 through 3 of said chapter and title, or pursuant to any ordinance relating to 

precautionary measures enacted by any political subdivision of the state shall be liable for the death of 

or the injury to person or for damage to property as a result of any such activity. 

 

(c) It is the express intent of the parties that the immunities specified in accordance with O.C.G.A. § 

38-3-35 shall apply in addition to any other immunity provided by statute or case law. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

RIGHTS AND PRIVILEGES 
 

In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-30(a), whenever the employees of any Assisting Party or political 

subdivision are rendering outside aid pursuant to this agreement and the authority contained in Code 

Section 38-3-27, the employees shall have the same powers, duties, rights, privileges and immunities 

as if they were performing their duties in the political subdivisions in which they are normally 

employed. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

REIMBURSEMENT 
 

In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 38-3-30(b), The Requesting Party shall be liable for any loss of or 

damage to equipment used or placed within the jurisdiction of the Requesting Party and shall pay any 

expense incurred in the operation and maintenance thereof. No claim for the loss, damage or expense 

shall be allowed unless, within 60 days after the same is sustained or incurred, an itemized notice of 

67



Page 5 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 
 

the claim under oath is served by mail or otherwise upon the designated fiscal officer of the Requesting 

Party. Appendix B of this Agreement shall contain the name(s) of the Participating Party’s designated 

fiscal officer for purposes of this Agreement. Appendix B can be amended by the authorizing 

Participating Party as needed with no effect on the entire Agreement. Appendix B can be amended by 

the authorizing Participating Party as needed with no effect on the entire Agreement. All such 

amendments to Appendix B shall be done in writing and the Participating Party shall notify GEMA/HS 

and all other Participating Parties of such amendment within thirty (30) days. 

 

The Requesting Party shall also pay and reimburse the Assisting Party for the compensation paid to 

employees furnished by the Assisting Party during the time of the rendition of the aid, as well as the 

actual travel and per diem expenses of such employees while they are rendering the aid. The 

reimbursement shall include any amounts paid or due for compensation due to personal injury or death 

while the employees are engaged in rendering the aid. The term "employee," as used herein, shall 

mean, and this provision shall apply with equal effect to, paid, volunteer and auxiliary employees and 

emergency management workers.   

 

Expenses to be reimbursed by the Requesting Party shall include the following: 

 

(1) Labor costs, which shall include all usual wages, salaries, compensation for hours worked, 

mobilization and demobilization, the Assisting Party's portion of payroll taxes (as employer), 

insurance, accrued paid leave and other fringe benefits, but not those amounts paid or due as a 

benefit to the Assisting Parties personnel under the terms of the Georgia Workers Compensation 

Act; and 

 

(2) Equipment costs, which shall include the fair rental value, the cost of fuel and other consumable 

supplies, service and repairs. If the equipment is damaged while in use under this Agreement and 

the Assisting Party receives payment for such damage under any contract for insurance, the 

Requesting Party may deduct such payment from any item or items invoiced; and 

 

(3) Material costs, which shall include the total reasonable cost for the use and consumption of any 

and all consumable supplies delivered by the Assisting Party for the benefit of the Requesting 

Party; and 

 

(4) Meals, lodging and other related expenses, which shall include charges for meals, lodging and 

other expenses relating to the provision of assistance pursuant to this Agreement shall be the actual 

and reasonable costs incurred by the Assisting Party. 

 

The Assisting Party shall maintain records and submit invoices within 60 days for reimbursement as 

specified hereinabove and the Requesting Party shall pay the invoice no later than 30 days following 

the invoice date. 

ARTICLE IX 

IMPLEMENTATION 
 

This Agreement shall become operative immediately upon its approval and execution by GEMA/HS 

and any two political subdivisions of this State; thereafter, this Agreement shall become effective as to 

any other political subdivision of this State upon its approval and execution by such political 

subdivision. 

68



Page 6 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 
 

Any Participating Party may withdraw from this Agreement by mailing notice of withdrawal, approved 

by the governing authority of such political subdivision, but no such withdrawal shall take effect until 

30 days after the governing authority of the withdrawing political subdivision has given notice in 

writing of such withdrawal to the governing authorities of all other Participating Parties. Such action 

shall not relieve the withdrawing political subdivision from obligations assumed hereunder prior to the 

effective date of withdrawal. 

 

Copies of this Agreement shall, at the time of their approval, be deposited with each of the respective 

Participating Parties and with GEMA/HS. 

 

ARTICLE X 

TERM OF AGREEMENT 
 

This Agreement, once executed, is valid until March 1, 2028. Agreement of the Participating Parties to 

extend the term of this agreement at any time during the last year of its original term or the last year of 

any subsequent four-year term shall extend the term of this agreement for four years. Each four-year 

extension shall constitute a separate agreement. 

 

ARTICLE XI 

VALIDITY 
 

If any provision of this Agreement is declared unconstitutional, or the applicability thereof to any 

person or circumstances is held invalid, the constitutionality of the remainder of this Agreement and 

the applicability thereof to other persons and circumstances shall not be affected thereby. 

 

 

Agreed: 
 

 

 
 

  

Chief Executive Officer - Signature Chief Executive Officer – Print Name 

 

 

County/Municipality:    
 

 

Date: / /   
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

GEMA/HS Director – Signature GEMA/HS Director – Print Name 

 

 

 

Date: / /   

69



Chief Executive Officer – Print Name 
Page 7 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 

 

APPENDIX A 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 
 

The below named individual(s), in addition to the chief executive officer, is/are the “Authorized

Representative(s)” for __________________________(county/municipality), and are authorized

to request, offer, or otherwise provide and coordinate mutual aid assistance on behalf of the above- 

named county/municipality: 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Chief Executive Officer - Signature 

Date: / /   

70



Chief Executive Officer – Print Name 
Page 8 of 8 

Statewide Mutual Aid and Assistance Agreement- 2024 

 

APPENDIX B 

DESIGNATED FISCAL OFFICER(S) 
 

The below named individual(s) is/are the “designated fiscal officer(s)” for___________________ 
 

(county/municipality) for the purpose of reimbursement sought for mutual aid: 
 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 

 
 

  

Print Name Job Title/Position 
 

 

 
 

 

Signature of Above Individual 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Chief Executive Officer - Signature 

Date: / /   

71



Business Item 11: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: 2025 Alcohol License Renewals 

   

 

 

Summary: -Bear Creek Marina - Restaurant, Application number 2025-A-011 located at 60 Bear Creek Marina 

Rd, Mansfield, GA 30055. Name of applicant: Donald Wright – Pouring license for distilled spirits, beer, and 

wine. – Renewal. 

Bear Creek Marina - Application number 2025-A-010 located at 62 Bear Creek Marina Rd, Mansfield, GA 

30055. Name of applicant Don Wright- Retail license for beer and wine. – Renewal  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: Bear Creek Marina, and the restaurant have completed and passed updated criminal background 

checks with no infractions and there have been no complaint calls to 911 relating to alcohol in the year 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

  

72



Business Item 12: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  BOC 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

Subject: Jasper County Library Board Appointments – Azalea Regional Library 

 

 

Summary: 

  

The Jasper County Library Board of Trustees has one vacancy.  

 

 

The Board of Commissioners staff advertised the Azalea Regional Library Board vacancies. Ashley Johnson has 

expressed interest in being appointed to the Library Board of Trustees by the Jasper County Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

 

 

Background: 

The Jasper County Library Board of Trustees is a 6-member Board. They serve 6-year terms.  The Board of 

Commissioners currently appoints 4 members.  

 

 

Cost: 

None 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion(s): 

Board Discretion 

  

73



74



75



76



Business Item 13: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:  BOC 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

Subject: Jasper County Department of Behavioral Health & Disabilities Region 2 Advisory Council 

Appointment 

 

Summary: 

  

The Georgia Department of Behavioral Health & Disabilities Region 2 comprises 33 counties. The Regional 

Advisory Councils are constituted by state law to provide representation in the planning process for local 

stakeholders, specifically consumers and family members of persons needing mental health, developmental 

disabilities, and addictive diseases services.  

 

 

 

Background: 

Jasper County is allocated 1 seat on the Advisory Council which is currently vacant. The vacant seat needs 

representation for a term that expires on 6/30/2026.  

 

We have received one application for the appointment from Ms. Tamieka Carter.   

 

 

Cost: 

None 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion(s): 

Board Discretion 

  

77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



Business Item 14: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Jasper County Board of Education 

 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Tax Levy Resolution for School System General Obligation Bonds  

   

 

Summary: Resolution authorizing the levy of a sufficient school bond millage, in an amount to be 

determined by the Board of Education annually, to pay the annual debt service on the Jasper County School 

District General Obligation Bonds, Series 2025, to the extent other available funds of the School System are not 

sufficient.  

 

 

Background:   The Georgia Constitution (Article IX, Section V, Paragraph VI) requires any county, 

municipality or political subdivision to “provide for the assessment and collection of an annual tax sufficient in 

amount to pay the principal and interest” of any bond indebtedness, together with any other moneys collected for 

such purpose.  School districts in Georgia cannot levy taxes, but rather must recommend to the County a millage 

rate to be levied and collected by the County Tax Commissioner, just as is done annually for the M&O Millage.  

The proposed resolution satisfies the Constitutional prerequisite to issuing general obligation bonds in that it 

states the County will levy and collect a sufficient tax, in an amount to be determined by the Board of Education, 

each year that the bonds are outstanding.  It is anticipated that no bond millage will need to be levied to pay the 

annual debt service. 

 

 

Cost: None. The County has no obligation regarding the bonds or payment of the debt service. 

 

 

Recommended Motion:  Motion to approve the Tax Levy Resolution as presented. 

  

86



 

                                                       

 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE JASPER COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND 

COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL AD VALOREM TAX TO 

PROVIDE FUNDS FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL 

OF AND INTEREST ON $18,385,000 IN AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE JASPER COUNTY SCHOOL 

DISTRICT (GEORGIA) GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, 

SERIES 2025. 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution of the Jasper County Board of Education (the “Board 

of Education”), which Resolution was duly adopted on November 14, 2023, an election was called 

to be held on March 12, 2024 (the “Election”), in all of the election districts of the Jasper County 

School District (the “School District”), a political subdivision of the State of Georgia, to determine 

whether or not the 1% sales and use tax for educational purposes should be continued for five years 

commencing on October 1, 2025 or upon such earlier termination of the current 1% sales and use 

tax for educational purposes  and whether or not Jasper County School District (Georgia) General 

Obligation Bonds in the maximum amount of $23,000,000 (the “Approved Debt”) should be 

issued; and, 

 

WHEREAS, under and by virtue of the authority of Ga. Const. Art. VIII, § VI, ¶ IV and Ga. 

Code Ann. §§ 48-8-140 to 144, as amended (collectively the “Sales Tax Act”), and the approval 

of a majority of the qualified voters voting in the Election, the School District is authorized to 

impose the 1% sales and use tax for educational purposes commencing October 1, 2025 or upon 

such earlier termination of the current 1% sales and use tax for educational purposes (the “2025-

2030 School Tax”) and to issue the Approved Debt in the form of its JASPER COUNTY SCHOOL 

DISTRICT (GEORGIA) GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2025 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate 

principal amount of $18,385,000 for the purpose of paying all or a portion of the costs of the 

following: acquiring, constructing, repairing, improving, renovating, adding to, extending, 

upgrading, furnishing, and/or equipping school buildings, support and administrative facilities and 

buildings, athletic facilities and buildings, and/or infrastructure in the Jasper County School 

District useful or desirable in connection therewith, including acquiring any necessary property 

therefore, both real and personal, including, but not limited to: (1) constructing, repairing, 

improving, renovating, adding to, extending, upgrading, furnishing, and/or equipping Jasper 

County High School, to include a new career/technical education facility; (2) constructing, 

repairing, improving, renovating, adding to, extending, upgrading, furnishing, and/or equipping 

Washington Park Elementary School facilities and infrastructure, to include new instructional units 

for classrooms; (3) acquiring, constructing, furnishing, and/or equipping a maintenance and 

transportation operations facility; (4) constructing, repairing, improving, renovating, adding to, 

extending, upgrading, furnishing, and/or equipping Jasper County Primary School, to include new 

instructional units for classrooms; (5) acquiring vocational, fine arts, and music equipment; (6) 

acquiring textbooks (including e-books) and technology, software, computer, safety, security, 

and/or fire protection equipment; (7) acquiring buses, vehicles, maintenance equipment and/or 

transportation equipment; (8) acquiring real property for Jasper County School District facilities; 

(9) planning and design for new construction of improvements useful or desirable to the Jasper 

County School District (collectively, the “Projects”); and/or (10) paying capitalized interest, costs 

of issuing the Bonds, and/or paying expenses incident to accomplishing the foregoing; and, 

87



 

2 

 

 WHEREAS, the principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be payable first from the 

proceeds derived from the 2025-2030 School Tax and, in any event, from a direct annual ad 

valorem tax, unlimited as to rate or amount, on all property within the School District subject to 

taxation for bond purposes; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Education has determined that it is necessary that there be levied 

an annual ad valorem tax upon all property subject to taxation for school bond purposes within the 

territorial limits of the School District sufficient in an amount, together with the proceeds of the 

2025-2030 School Tax actually collected, to pay the total amount of principal and interest on the 

Bonds at their respective maturities; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Education has recommended, in a resolution duly adopted by the 

Board of Education and delivered to the Jasper County Board of Commissioners (the “Board of 

Commissioners”), that the Board of Commissioners, as required by Georgia law, levy an annual 

ad valorem tax upon all property within the territorial limits of the School District subject to 

taxation for school bond purposes, at such rate as will raise, together with the proceeds of the 2025-

2030 School Tax actually collected, up to the total principal of and interest on the Bonds as set 

forth in Exhibit A hereto; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary at this time that an ad valorem tax be levied as required by Ga. 

Const. Art. IX, § V, ¶ VI for the purpose of paying the annual amount of principal of and interest 

on the Bonds, which tax shall be levied in the preceding year. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, AT THE REQUEST OF THE JASPER COUNTY SCHOOL 

DISTRICT AND AS APPROVED BY THE VOTERS OF THE SCHOOL DISTRICT IN A 

REFERENDUM HELD ON MARCH 12, 2024, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of 

Commissioners, and it is hereby resolved by authority of the same, that there shall be and is hereby 

levied a direct annual ad valorem tax for the years 2025 through 2039, without limitation as to rate 

or amount, upon all property subject to taxation for school bond purposes within the territorial 

limits of the School District, being all of Jasper County, Georgia, sufficient to provide moneys 

required to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds, as more fully set forth in Exhibit A 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference; provided, however, that debt service on 

the Bonds shall first be paid from the proceeds of the 2025-2030 School Tax. The sums hereby 

levied are hereby irrevocably pledged and appropriated to the payment of the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable. The amount to be levied for each year 

is the amount to be specified by the Board of Education to pay principal and interest coming due 

in the following year. These sums shall be collected by the Board of Commissioners, in each of 

the years levied, shall be paid into the Debt Service Account, and shall be applied to the payment 

of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as the same become due and payable. Provisions to 

meet the requirements of this resolution shall be made annually hereafter. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the authority aforesaid that the Board of Commissioners, 

as levying authority, together with the Board of Education, as recommending authority, shall 

comply with the provisions of Ga. Code Ann. § 48-5-32, and all other statutory requirements as 

may exist from time to time relating to the publication of any reports or notices required prior to 

establishing millage rates each year for educational purposes, and shall take such other actions as 

88



 

3 

 

may be required for the assessment and collection of taxes to provide funds in the years and 

amounts set forth in this resolution, to the extent the proceeds of the 2025-2030 School Tax 

received by the School District are not sufficient for that purpose. The Board of Commissioners 

and the Board of Education shall cause a report to be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation throughout Jasper County at least two weeks prior to the establishment of the millage 

rates for ad valorem taxes for educational purposes during the current calendar year, in accordance 

with Ga. Code Ann. § 48-5-32. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the authority aforesaid that this resolution is adopted in 

order to assure compliance with Ga. Const. Art. IX, § V, ¶ VI. The Board of Commissioners will 

take no action to establish a millage levy for the payment of any portion of the principal of and 

interest on the Bonds from ad valorem taxes until the Board of Education certifies to it any millage 

required for such purposes. 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the authority aforesaid that all orders and resolutions in 

conflict with this resolution this day passed, if any, be and the same are hereby repealed. 

 

(Signatures on Next Page) 

 

89



PASSED, ADOPTED, SIGNED, APPROVED, AND EFFECTIVE at Monticello, Georgia, 
on the 6th day of January, 2025. 

JASPER COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS 

By:        
Name:  Bruce Henry  
Title:   Chairman, Board of Commissioners  

Attest:   
Name:  Sheila Jefferson   
Title:   County Clerk  

(S E A L) 

90



 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

$18,385,000 

Jasper County School District (Georgia) 

General Obligation Bonds 

Series 2025 

 

DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE 
 

 
Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+I

06/01/2025 - - 347,272.22 347,272.22

12/01/2025 - - 459,625.00 459,625.00

06/01/2026 - - 459,625.00 459,625.00

12/01/2026 1,075,000.00 5.000% 459,625.00 1,534,625.00

06/01/2027 - - 432,750.00 432,750.00

12/01/2027 1,130,000.00 5.000% 432,750.00 1,562,750.00

06/01/2028 - - 404,500.00 404,500.00

12/01/2028 1,190,000.00 5.000% 404,500.00 1,594,500.00

06/01/2029 - - 374,750.00 374,750.00

12/01/2029 1,255,000.00 5.000% 374,750.00 1,629,750.00

06/01/2030 - - 343,375.00 343,375.00

12/01/2030 1,310,000.00 5.000% 343,375.00 1,653,375.00

06/01/2031 - - 310,625.00 310,625.00

12/01/2031 1,370,000.00 5.000% 310,625.00 1,680,625.00

06/01/2032 - - 276,375.00 276,375.00

12/01/2032 1,425,000.00 5.000% 276,375.00 1,701,375.00

06/01/2033 - - 240,750.00 240,750.00

12/01/2033 1,480,000.00 5.000% 240,750.00 1,720,750.00

06/01/2034 - - 203,750.00 203,750.00

12/01/2034 1,365,000.00 5.000% 203,750.00 1,568,750.00

06/01/2035 - - 169,625.00 169,625.00

12/01/2035 1,385,000.00 5.000% 169,625.00 1,554,625.00

06/01/2036 - - 135,000.00 135,000.00

12/01/2036 975,000.00 5.000% 135,000.00 1,110,000.00

06/01/2037 - - 110,625.00 110,625.00

12/01/2037 1,025,000.00 5.000% 110,625.00 1,135,625.00

06/01/2038 - - 85,000.00 85,000.00

12/01/2038 1,080,000.00 5.000% 85,000.00 1,165,000.00

06/01/2039 - - 58,000.00 58,000.00

12/01/2039 1,130,000.00 5.000% 58,000.00 1,188,000.00

06/01/2040 - - 29,750.00 29,750.00

12/01/2040 1,190,000.00 5.000% 29,750.00 1,219,750.00

Total $18,385,000.00 - $8,075,897.22 $26,460,897.22

91



STATE OF GEORGIA,  
JASPER COUNTY 

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE 

The undersigned, Clerk of the Board of Commissioners of Jasper County (the “Board”), 
DOES HEREBY certify that the foregoing pages of typewritten matter constitute a true and correct 
copy of a resolution adopted by the members of the Board, in a meeting duly assembled and open 
to the public at which a quorum was present, on the 6th day of January, 2025, the original of which 
has been duly recorded in the Minute Book of the Board, which is in my custody and control. 

GIVEN this the 6th day of January, 2025. 

[SEAL] 
______________________________________ 
Sheila Jefferson, County Clerk 

92



Business Item 15:  

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Planning & Zoning 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Create Scenic Byway Commission 

   

 

 

Summary: The Planning and Zoning Board presents a resolution to adopt a Scenic Byway Commission as 

outlined in the Scenic Byway Corridor Management Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  The Planning and Zoning Board voted 4-0 to recommend the creation of a Scenic Byway 

Commission  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:  N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

  

93



A RESOLUTION FROM THE JC PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD 

Whereas the nature of development along state highways is essential to preserving the rural character that 

Jasper County wishes to maintain and project to visitors, and 

Whereas Jasper County will be facing increasing development pressures in the future along state highways 

serving the county, and 

Whereas the Jasper County: Joint Comprehensive Plan, adopted the 8th Day of January 2024, includes a Jasper 
County Future Development Map on page 38 indicating “Gateway Corridors” which are described on page 36 
as:  
“Limited, low-intensity development may be appropriate in specific areas along these corridors. However, 
development must follow the design and landscaping requirements set forth in the Scenic Byways corridor 
management plan”,  
and are noted with “Zoning Compatibility” to:   
R-R,  AG,  PRC,  S-2,  Scenic Byway Overlay”, 
and 

Whereas the “Monticello Crossroads Scenic Byway Corridor Management Plan” on the 4th- and 5th page 

indicates a process for creating a Byway Commission to develop such “design and landscaping requirements”, 
and 

Whereas without such “design and landscaping requirements” that might differentiate “Gateway Corridor” 
overlay zoning requirements in the county’s ordinances, the goal of preserving rural character will be 

handicapped, and  

Whereas the process to create the Byway Commission, and develop and codify “design and landscaping 
requirements” related to Gateway Corridors may take a long time, and should be in place before development 

pressures are intense, 

Therefore the Jasper County Planning and Zoning Board recommends that the Jasper County Board of 

Commissioners take steps as soon as possible to:  

Appoint BOC-appointed members to the Byway Commission, 

Work with other county entities to complete their appointments to the Byway Commission, 

Promote the initiation and completion of recommendations by the Byway Commission. 

 

  

94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



Business Item 16: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Jasper County Employees Defined Benefit Plan Amendment and Resolution 

   

 

 

Summary:  

 

Motion is needed to adopt a resolution to formally amend the Jasper County Employees Defined Benefit Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Background: 

  

At the December 2, 2024 Meeting, the BOC approved changes to the County Employees Defined Benefit Plan as 

described in the Adoption Agreement Amendment #2 Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined 

Benefit Plan for Jasper County Employees. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

Motion to Adopt the Resolution to Amend Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Benefit Plan 

for Jasper County Employees as Described in Adoption Agreement Amendment #2 as Presented. 

  

102



 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND  

ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 

FOR JASPER COUNTY EMPLOYEES  

 
WHEREAS, Jasper County, Georgia (the “County”) previously adopted the Association County Commissioners of 

Georgia Defined Benefit Plan for Jasper County Employees (the “Plan”), which was most recently amended and restated 

effective as of January 1, 2015; 

WHEREAS, Section 16.02(b) of the Plan allows the Employer to amend the elective provisions of the Adoption 

Agreement at any time; 

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to revise the Pension Benefit Formula to provide tiered multipliers based on the 

Participant’s years of Credited Service and to eliminate the fixed-dollar multiplier; 

WHEREAS, the revised formula will be implemented via an amendment of General Application in accordance with 

Section 16.02(c)(i) of the Plan, meaning that it will apply to Participants who are Employees on and after January 6, 2025, 

but as to both their pre-2025 and future Credited Service;  

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to add an Unreduced Early Retirement Pension upon the attainment of age sixty–

five (65) and the completion of twenty-five (25) years of Vesting Service;  

WHEREAS, in accordance with O.C.G.A. 36-5-24, the revised formula will not apply to, and the Unreduced Early 

Retirement Pension will not be available to, County Commissioners until January 1, 2027; 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to further amend the Adoption Agreement to provide for full vesting after seven 

(7) years of Vesting Service for employees hired on and after January 6, 2025, and to adopt an Addendum describing the 

Employees to whom this amendment applies as “Class 2” Employees. 

NOW THEREFORE, at a meeting held on the sixth day of January, 2025, the Board of Commissioners hereby 

resolves as follows: 

 

RESOLVED that the Jasper County Board of Commissioners approves the adoption of the Adoption Agreement 

Amendment #2, attached hereto. 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED that the Commission Chair is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to take all 

further actions and to execute all documents and forms necessary to implement these resolutions. 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED that any resolution in conflict with this resolution is hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of _________________, 2025. 

 

 
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

  

 

By: ____________________________________ 

Chair, Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

 

 

Attest: 

 

By:  ________________________________________ 

County Clerk 

  

103



 Jasper County 

1 of 5 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT AMENDMENT #2 

ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 

DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 

FOR JASPER COUNTY EMPLOYEES 

THIS AMENDMENT to the Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Benefit Plan for 

Jasper County Employees is made and entered into by the Jasper County, Georgia Board of Commissioners.  

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, Jasper County (the “Employer”) previously adopted the Association County Commissioners 

of Georgia Defined Benefit Plan for Jasper County Employees (the “Plan”) through an Adoption Agreement that was 

most recently amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2015; 

WHEREAS, Section 16.02(b) of the Plan allows the Employer to amend the elective provisions of the 

Adoption Agreement at any time; 

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to revise the Pension Benefit Formula to provide tiered multipliers based 

on the Participant’s years of Credited Service and to eliminate the fixed-dollar multiplier; 

WHEREAS, the revised formula will be implemented via an amendment of General Application in 

accordance with Section 16.02(c)(i) of the Plan, meaning that it will apply to Participants who are Employees on and 

after January 6, 2025, but as to both their pre-2025 and future Credited Service;  

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to add an Unreduced Early Retirement Pension upon the attainment of 

age sixty (60) and the completion of twenty-five (25) years of Vesting Service;  

WHEREAS, in accordance with O.C.G.A. 36-5-24, the revised formula will not apply to, and the 

Unreduced Early Retirement Pension will not be available to, County Commissioners until January 1, 2027; 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to further amend the Adoption Agreement to provide for full vesting 

after seven (7) years of Vesting Service for employees hired on and after January 6, 2025, and to adopt an 

Addendum describing the Employees to whom this amendment applies as “Class 2” Employees. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Adoption Agreement is hereby amended as follows effective as of the dates set 

forth below:  

1. 

For purposes of the Plan, Employees shall belong to one or more of the Classes described below: 

Class 1: Eligible Employees Hired Before January 6, 2025 

 All Eligible Employees with an Employment Commencement Date before 

January 6, 2025. 

Class 2: Eligible Employees Hired On and After January 6, 2025 

All Eligible Employees whose most recent Employment Commencement Date or 

Reemployment Commencement Date is on or after January 6, 2025. 

 

104



 Jasper County 

2 of 5 

2. 

Adoption Agreement Section 5.03, “Amount of Normal or Late Retirement Pension,” is restated to read as 

follows effective as of January 6, 2025 (January 1, 2027, for County Commissioners):  

 5.03 AMOUNT OF NORMAL OR LATE RETIREMENT PENSION. 

 A Participant’s Normal or Late Retirement Pension shall be calculated using the following Pension 

Benefit Formula(s): 

[--] Single tiered Formula 

 __________ percent (______%) of a Participant's annualized Average Monthly 

Compensation multiplied by years of Credited Service 

[X] Multi tiered Formula 

 One and one-half percent (1.5%) of a Participant's annualized Average Monthly 

Compensation multiplied by his or her years of Credited Service less than twenty (20), plus 

 Two percent (2.0%) of a Participant's annualized Average Monthly Compensation 

multiplied by his or her years of Credited Service in excess of twenty (20).  

[--] Fixed Dollar Amount 

 A fixed dollar amount of $ ______ multiplied by years of Credited Service. 

[--] Percentage of annualized Average Monthly Compensation 

 __________ percent (____%) of annualized Average Monthly Compensation multiplied by 

the ratio of years of Credited Service to the total of: (1) the years of Credited Service plus 

(2) the years remaining until the Participant’s Normal Retirement Date.  The multiplier shall 

not be less than zero (0) nor greater than one (1). 

 All formulas specified in this Section shall be added together to determine the Normal or Late 

Pension benefit. 

 

 

Amendment Effective Date: 

  

January 6, 2025 generally; 

January 1, 2027, for 

County Commissioners 

 

Applicable Employees:  All Employees 

 

3. 

 Adoption Agreement Section 6.02, “Offering of Early Retirement Pension,” shall be restated 

effective as of January 6, 2025 (January 1, 2027, for County Commissioners), to offer an Unreduced Early 

Retirement Pension, as follows: 

105



 Jasper County 

3 of 5 

 6.01 OFFERING OF EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION.   

[X] The Plan offers an Unreduced Early Retirement Pension 

[X] The Plan offers a Reduced Early Retirement Pension 

[--] The Plan does not offer an Early Retirement Pension 

 
 

Amendment Effective Date: 

  

January 6, 2025 generally; 

January 1, 2027, for 

County Commissioners 

 

Applicable Employees:  All Employees 

 

4. 

 Adoption Agreement Section 6.02, “Eligibility for Early Retirement Pension,” shall be restated 

effective as of January 6, 2025 (January 1, 2027, for County Commissioners), to provide for an Unreduced Early 

Retirement Pension upon the attainment of age sixty (60) with twenty-five (25) years of Vesting Service, as follows: 

 

 6.02 ELIGIBILITY FOR EARLY RETIREMENT PENSION.   

 
For Unreduced Early Retirement Pension 

[X] The later of the date: 

[X] The Participant attains sixty (60) years of age  

[X] The Participant completes twenty-five (25) years of Vesting Service  

[--] The Participant’s age, combined with the Participant’s years of Vesting Service, equals or 

exceeds the numerical value of __________ (____) 

[--] The earlier of date determined immediately above and the later of the date: 

[--] The Participant attains ____ (____) years of age 

[--] The Participant completes ____ (____) years of Vesting Service 

[--] The Participant’s age, combined with the Participant’s years of Vesting Service, equals or 

exceeds the numerical value of ____ (____) 

 
For Reduced Early Retirement Pension 

[X] The later of the date: 

[X] The Participant attains sixty (60) years of age 

[X] The Participant completes ten (10) years of Vesting Service 

[--] The Participant’s age, combined with the Participant’s years of Vesting Service, equals or 

exceeds the numerical value of __________ (____) 

[--] The earlier of date determined immediately above and the later of the date: 

[--] The Participant attains __________ (____) years of age 

[--] The Participant completes __________ (____) years of Vesting Service 

106



 Jasper County 

4 of 5 

[--] The Participant’s age, combined with the Participant’s years of Vesting Service, equals or 

exceeds the numerical value of __________ (____) 

 

 

Amendment Effective Date: 

  

January 6, 2025 generally; 

January 1, 2027, for 

County Commissioners 

 

Applicable Employees:  All Employees 

 

5. 

Adoption Agreement Section 8.04, Vesting Schedule, is restated in its entirety to read as follows 

for Class 2 Employees: 

 8.04 VESTING SCHEDULE.   

 The Employer elects the following vesting schedule: 

[--] Immediately upon Plan Entry Date  100% Vested in 

Accrued Benefits 

[X] Full Years of Vesting Service with 

the Employer 

 Percent Vested in 

Accrued Benefit 

 Less than Seven (7) years  0% 

 Seven (7) years or more  100% 

    

[--] Full Years of Vesting Service with 

the Employer 

 Percent Vested in 

Accrued Benefit 

 _____ years  _____% 

 _____ years  _____% 

 _____ years  _____% 

 _____ years  _____% 

 _____ years  _____% 

 _____ years  _____% 

 
 Amendment Effective Date:  January 6, 2025 

 

 Applicable Employees:  Class 2 Employees 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused its duly authorized officer to execute this 

Amendment on the date specified below. 

JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

107



 Jasper County 

5 of 5 

By: ____________________________________ 

 

Title: ____________________________________ 

 

Date: ____________________________________ 

 

 

108



 

Business Item 17: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Public Facilities Authority 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Jasper County Public Facilities Authority Board Appointment 

   

 

 

Summary:  

Jasper County’s Public Facilities Authority was established by the Jasper County Board of Commissioners and 

approved by an act by the Georgia General Assembly.  

The Public Facilities Authority is comprised of five (5) members who shall be residents of Jasper County 

and who shall be appointed by the Board of Commissioners of Jasper County. The members of the 

Authority shall be appointed to serve for a term of one (1) year, of such appointment and until their 

successors have been selected and appointed. 

Past Commissioner Jernigan served as the Board of Commissioners appointee. The Board needs to appoint a 

Commissioner to complete this term. 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  

The Jasper County Public Facilities Authority was created to promote the public good and well-being of the 

citizens of Jasper County. The Authority has the ability to enable financing to provide long-term capital projects 

including facilities, equipment, and services within Jasper County. 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board’s Discretion 

  

109



Business Item 18: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Health Department 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Jasper County Health Department Board Appointment 

   

 

 

Summary:  

The primary roles of the Boards of Health are to assess the needs of the community, provide policy guidance, 

and exercise general oversight of the health department.  The Boards of Health also certify the county health 

department budget each year to the County Commission and may adopt public health rules and regulations for 

the county. 

 

The Jasper County Board of Health members serve as links to local government and community resources and 

the role of advocating for public health for Jasper County. They also have the important role of advising the 

District Health Director on specific needs in Jasper County. 

 

 

 

 

Background:  

Jasper County Health Department Board of Directors has seven members.  Jasper County BOC appoints four 

members to the Jasper County Board of Health.  

 

1. Chief executive officer of the governing authority of the County (Chairman of County Commission) or 

his designee. 

2. Physician appointed by County Commissioners (Dentist or Nurse if no physician) 

3. Consumer Advocate: Appointed by County Commissioners 

4. Advocate for Needy, underprivileged, or Elderly: Appointed by County Commissioners. 

 

 

With Commissioner Jernigan’s term ending, Position 1 is now vacant. The board will need to appoint someone 

to the position.  

 

 

 

 

Cost:  None 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: Board Discretion 

 

  

110



C
O

M
P

O
S

IT
IO

N
 O

F
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
 B

O
A

R
D

 O
F

 H
E

A
L
T

H
 

C
R

E
A

T
E

D
 B

Y
 H

O
U

S
E

 B
IL

L
 1

0
6

8
 (

1
9
8

4
 G

A
. 
L

E
G

IS
L

A
T

U
R

E
) 

 

B
O

A
R

D
 M

E
M

B
E

R
S

 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

 T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
 

T
e

rm
 

N
e

w
  

T
e

rm
 

6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 
6
 Y

e
a
rs

 

1
 

C
h

ie
f 

e
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

o
f 
th

e
 g

o
v
e

rn
in

g
 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
f 
C

o
u
n

ty
 (

C
h

a
ir
m

a
n
 o

f 
C

o
u
n

ty
 

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
) 

o
r 

h
is

 d
e
s
ig

n
e

e
. 

S
e

rv
e

s
 W

h
ile

 H
o
ld

in
g
 O

ff
ic

e
 

2
 

P
h

y
s
ic

ia
n
 a

p
p

o
in

te
d

 b
y
 C

o
u
n

ty
 

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

rs
 (

D
e

n
ti
s
t 
o

r 
N

u
rs

e
 i
f 
n

o
 

p
h
y
s
ic

ia
n
) 

1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
3

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
9

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
3
5

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
1

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
7

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
3

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
9

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
6
5

 

3
 

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
A

d
v
o
c
a

te
: 
 A

p
p

o
in

te
d

 b
y
 C

o
u

n
ty

 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

rs
 

1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
8

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
3
4

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
0

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
6

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
2

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
8

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
6
4

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
7
0

 

4
 

A
d

v
o
c
a

te
 f
o

r 
N

e
e
d

y
, 
u

n
d
e

rp
ri
v
ile

g
e

d
, 

o
r 

E
ld

e
rl
y
: 

 A
p

p
o

in
te

d
 b

y
 C

o
u
n

ty
 

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e

rs
. 

1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
7

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
3
3

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
3
9

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
5

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
1

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
7

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
6
3

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
6
9

 

5
 

C
o

u
n

ty
 S

u
p
e

ri
n
te

n
d

e
n

t 
o
f 

S
c
h

o
o

ls
 

S
e

rv
e

s
 W

h
ile

 H
o
ld

in
g
 O

ff
ic

e
 

6
 

C
h

ie
f 

e
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

o
f 
th

e
 g

o
v
e

rn
in

g
 

a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 l
a

rg
e

s
t 
m

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y
 o

f 
th

e
 

C
o

u
n

ty
 o

r 
h

is
 d

e
s
ig

n
e

e
. 

S
e

rv
e

s
 W

h
ile

 H
o
ld

in
g
 O

ff
ic

e
 

7
 

C
o

n
s
u

m
e

r 
o

r 
L

ic
e

n
s
e

d
 N

u
rs

e
: 
 A

p
p
o

in
te

d
 b

y
 

g
o
v
e

rn
in

g
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
f 
la

rg
e
s
t 
m

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y
 

1
2
/3

1
/2

0
2
8

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
3
4

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
0

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
4
6

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
2

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
5
8

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
6
4

 
1
2
/3

1
/2

0
7
0

 

 M
e

m
b
e

rs
 (

1
),

 (
5

),
 a

n
d

 (
6

) 
s
h

a
ll 

s
e

rv
e
 w

h
ile

 h
o
ld

in
g

 t
h

e
ir
 o

ff
ic

e
s
 a

s
 c

h
ie

f 
e

x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 o
ff

ic
e
r 

o
f 

th
e

 g
o

v
e

rn
in

g
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
f 

th
e

 c
o
u

n
ty

, 
c
o
u

n
ty

 
s
u

p
e

ri
n

te
n

d
e

n
t 
o

f 
s
c
h

o
o

ls
, 
a

n
d

 c
h

ie
f 

e
x
e

c
u

ti
v
e

 o
ff

ic
e

r 
o

f 
th

e
 l
a

rg
e

s
t 
m

u
n

ic
ip

a
lit

y
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
u
n

ty
 r

e
s
p
e

c
ti
v
e

ly
. 

 A
p

p
o

in
te

d
 m

e
m

b
e

rs
 (

2
),

 (
3

),
 (

4
),

 a
n
d

 (
7

) 
s
h
a

ll 
ta

k
e

 o
ff

ic
e
 t
h

e
 f

ir
s
t 

d
a

y
 o

f 
J
a
n

u
a

ry
 i
m

m
e

d
ia

te
ly

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
h

e
 e

x
p

ir
a

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 i
m

m
e

d
ia

te
ly

 
p

re
c
e

d
in

g
 t
e

rm
 o

f 
th

a
t 
o

ff
ic

e
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

e
 t

e
rm

s
 o

f 
s

ix
 y

e
a

rs
 a

n
d

 u
n

ti
l 
th

e
ir
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
o

rs
 a

re
 a

p
p

o
in

te
d

 a
n
d

 q
u

a
lif

ie
d
. 
 V

a
c
a
n

c
ie

s
 i
n
 a

n
y
 s

u
c
h

 
m

e
m

b
e

rs
h
ip

 s
h
a

ll 
b

e
 f
ill

e
d

, 
fo

r 
th

e
 u

n
e

x
p

ir
e

d
 t
e

rm
 a

n
d

 u
n

ti
l 
a
 s

u
c
c
e

s
s
o

r 
is

 a
p

p
o

in
te

d
 a

n
d
 q

u
a

lif
ie

d
, 
in

 t
h
e

 s
a
m

e
 m

a
n

n
e

r 
a

s
 t
h

e
 o

ri
g

in
a

l 
a

p
p
o

in
tm

e
n
t.

 
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
2

3
 

111



 

Business Item 19: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: HB 581 – Property and Sales Tax Reform 

   

 

 

Summary:  

 

Discussion Items: 

 

Floating Local Option Sales Tax – FLOST 

New 1% Sales Tax Strictly Used for Property Tax Relief 

Requires County Referendum 

All Cities That Levy Advalorem Tax Must Not Opt Out of Floating Homestead for New Sales Tax to be 

Available 

School Boards that Opt Out of Floating Homestaed Do Not Effect New Sales Tax Availability 

 

Floating Homestead Exemption 

Property with Homestead Exemption - Maximum Increase in Taxable Value Limited to Annual Inflation 

Counties, Cities and School Boards Can Opt Out Independently – Opt Out Must be Completed by March 1, 2025 

Opt Out Requires Three Public Hearings 

 

 

 

Background: 

  

HB 581 – Property and Sales Tax Reform 

State Approved – 62.9% 

Jasper County Approved – 65.5% 

 

Components 

Floating Homestead Exemption 

Floating Local Option Sales Tax 

Property Tax Procedural Changes 

 

 

Cost:   

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

Board Discretion 

  

112



113



114



115



1/2/2025

1

HB 581 Summary and 
Guidance

ACCG & GMA Joint Trainings
October 3rd, 2024

Ryan Bowersox

Assistant General Counsel, GMA

Dante Handel

Associate Director of Governmental Affairs, ACCG

Background: Where Did This Come 
From?

• Legislature entered 2024 session concerned about 
rising property value assessments and in turn 
property tax

• Senate leaders wanted measures to control rapid 
increases in property assessments

• House leaders looked to expand sales tax options
• Various proposals ultimately resulted in HB 581 (& 

HR 1022)

116



1/2/2025

2

HB 581: Overview 

Signed into law April 18, 2024 (Act 379).  

Contingent upon November Statewide Referendum 
(HR 1022) 

Major Components: 
1.Statewide Floating Homestead Exemption (Part 2) 
2.New Local Option Sales Tax (Part 3)
3.Property Tax Procedural Changes  (Part 1)

Presentation Outline

• When does this bill take effect?
• Who gets a floating homestead exemption?
• What is a floating homestead exemption?
• What is the procedure to opt out and what is the timeline?
• What is the new sales tax?
• Other sales tax revisions
• Other property tax changes
• Policy considerations for local governments
• Other local government considerations

117



1/2/2025

3

When Does this Bill Take Effect?

 HB 581 is contingent upon the passage of the constitutional 

amendment from HR 1022 on November 5, 2024 which allows 

local governments the ability to opt out of the floating homestead 

exemption. 

 A simple majority is required for passage.  

 If the constitutional amendment fails, all of HB 581 is 

repealed.  

 If the constitutional amendment passes, then the bill takes 

effect January 1, 2025.  

HB 581
Part 1: Statewide Floating Homestead 

Exemption
 If approved, HB 581 implements a statewide floating homestead exemption for all local 

governments:

 Counties

 Cities

 School Boards

 A floating homestead is a special type of homestead exemption designed to offset or 

reduce increases in taxable value to the property.  

 It is also referred to as a base-year or value offset exemption.  

 Freezes are a type of floating homestead exemption, but do not have an annual 

inflationary adjustment.  

118



1/2/2025

4

How Does a Floating Homestead Exemption 
Work?

 It works by increasing the value of the exemption to 

offset inflation.  

 For example, if a property had a taxable value of 

$100,000 and the taxable value increased the 

following year due to market changes to 

$110,000, then the exemption ‘floats’ to be worth 

$10,000 of taxable value so the taxpayer still 

pays on the original base year value of 

$100,000.  

How Does HB 581’s Floating Homestead 
Exemption Work?

 The HB 581 floating homestead exemption is unique because the base 

year value is adjusted and will increase by a rate of inflation determined 

by the State Revenue Commissioner – likely CPI.  

 If we take the same property with a $100,000 taxable base year value 

and CPI is 2% the following year, then the base value of $100,000 

may be increased by up to 2% to give an adjusted base year value of 

$102,000.  The exemption ‘floats’ to be worth $8,000 of assessed 

value so the taxpayer would pay on a taxable value of $102,000 in 

year 2.   

119



1/2/2025

5

How Does HB 581’s Floating Homestead 
Exemption Work?

 For homes first receiving this exemption in taxable year 2025, the base year 

assessed value will be the 2024 assessed value.  

 For homes first receiving the exemption in later years, the base year assessed 

value will be the assessed value for the immediately preceding year.

 Similar to other homestead exemptions, the value will be reset when the home is 

sold and is adjusted with “substantial property change.”

 Homeowners can not transfer exemption to new property.

How Does HB 581’s Floating Homestead 
Exemption Work?

 The effect of HB 581’s homestead exemption:

 The taxable value of a home may only increase at a 

rate of inflation each year

 Essentially controlling this will control how much the 

“value” of a home can increase annually

 Homeowners already granted a homestead will receive 

this exemption automatically

 Non-homesteaded property (i.e. Commercial) will 

continue to be valued at fair market

120



1/2/2025

6

How Does this New Homestead Exemption 
Impact Existing Homestead Exemptions?

 This new floating homestead exemption is in addition to and not in 

lieu of all non-floating homestead exemptions. This will not 

repeal/replace existing homestead exemptions!

 If there is an existing local floating homestead exemption, the 

taxpayer will receive whichever of the two exemptions is more 

beneficial. This is also true if a local floating homestead 

exemption is added in the future. 

 Existing local exemptions, such as the $2,000 of assessed value, 

are added after the floating homestead exemption is calculated.  

How Can a Local Government “Opt Out” of 
the Homestead Exemption?

 Any governing authority may elect to opt out of the floating homestead exemption created 

by HB 581 by following a procedure like the “public notification of tax increase” when a full 

rollback is not taken. 

 The local government must advertise and conduct three public hearings of intent to 

opt out and later adopt a resolution. 

 Must file resolution to Secretary of State by March 1, 2025!

 If procedures are not met, opt out is not effective.

121



1/2/2025

7

How Can a Local Government “Opt Out” of 
the Homestead Exemption?

 This process may not begin until the bill takes effect 

on January 1, 2025, and must be completed by 

March 1, 2025.  

 A governing authority may not opt-out of the 

statewide floating homestead exemption after this 

deadline.  

 However, the local delegation may pass a local Act 

of the General Assembly to implement a local 

floating homestead exemption at any time.             

How Can a Local Government “Opt Out” of 
the Homestead Exemption?

 Important to note: The decision to opt out is 

independent among local governments

 A county, the cities, and the school board may each 

decide whether to opt out

 The decision of whether or not to opt out will not 

impact the other local government’s homestead 

exemption

 This may result in homes having different taxable 

values

122



1/2/2025

8

Is the Decision to “Opt Out” or “Stay In” 
Permanent?

 Yes

 No action is needed by the local government to have the homestead exemption apply if it 

is approved in November.

 Once the opt out period has passed, currently there is no future method to opt out

 If a local government opts out, there is no future method to opt in to the HB 581 

exemption

 Of course, a similar homestead exemption can still be done in traditional manner

HB 581 Timeline

November 5, 2024: Statewide Question on Constitutional Amendment 

January 1, 2025: HB 581 takes effect, if approved

March 1, 2025: Deadline for local governments to “opt out” of homestead 
exemption

123



1/2/2025

9

HB 581
Part 2: Sales Tax Revisions and FLOST

• HB 581 makes two major changes to 
local sales tax: 

• Revises the provisions of O.C.G.A. 48-8-6 
which limits the percentage of local sales 
tax a jurisdiction  may levy.  

• Creates new local option sales 
tax contingent upon jurisdictions having a 
base year value homestead exemption.

Revised Local Sales Tax Limitation

 This legislation revises the existing two percent local sales tax cap; exemptions now include:

 ESPLOST 

 Up to one percent of the transportation sales taxes, which include:

 Regional TSPLOST 

 Single-County TSPLOST

 Transit SPLOST

 MARTA

 One of the specialty pennies, including:

 The new sales tax for property tax relief created by HB 581

 Columbus-Muscogee and Macon-Bibb OLOST

 Augusta-Richmond Coliseum SPLOST

 MOST for Atlanta and cities connected to its water system (East Point, College Park, 

and Hapeville)

124



1/2/2025

10

What is the New Sales Tax?

 A new sales tax is created for the limited purpose of property tax relief –

it may be levied in 0.05 percent increments up to one percent.    

 To be eligible to levy the tax, both the county and all cities within the 

county that levy a property tax must have in effect a floating 

homestead exemption: either the one created by this bill or a local 

floating homestead exemption.  

 It does not matter if the school boards opt out or not since they are 

ineligible to share in the proceeds of the tax without a separate 

constitutional amendment.  

How is the New Sales Tax Implemented?

 The county and city/cities representing at least 

fifty percent of the municipal population of cities 

that levy a property tax must enter into an 

intergovernmental agreement (IGA) calling for 

the tax.

 The IGA shall specify the rate, duration (not to 

exceed five years), and the distribution between 

the county and cities. It will also set the ballot 

question.

125



1/2/2025

11

How is the New Sales Tax Implemented?

 Following the adoption of the IGA, the tax must 

be approved through local referendum

 Approval by the voters will be required to levy 

the sales tax

 This is a different vote than the one that occurs 

in November approving the constitutional 

amendment!

How are Cities Not on the IGA Treated? 

• The IGA must also specify a portion of the 

proceeds that the cities not on the IGA will receive.

• Must not be less than the proportion the absent 

municipality’s population bears to the total 

population of all cities within the county that levy a 

property tax.  

• Modelled after LOST absent municipality 

provisions.

126



1/2/2025

12

How are MOST Cities Treated?

• Cities levying a MOST (Municipal Option Sales Tax 

for Water and Sewer Projects) are excluded. 

• Will not be considered for eligibility and are not 

included in these calculations.

• Tax will not be collected within the city and city can 

not receive the proceeds of this tax.  

• Currently Atlanta, East Point, College Park, & 

Hapeville.

How is the New Tax Collected and 
Distributed?

 Collection of the tax will begin at the start of the next calendar quarter beginning 

more than 50 days after that date (as opposed to eighty days for other local sales 

taxes).

 The Georgia Department of Revenue (DOR) sends the money to the county and 

the county will be responsible for distributing the money to the cities in 

accordance with the IGA.  

127



1/2/2025

13

How Can the Tax Be Renewed?

 The tax can run up to 5 years

 Prior to the expiration, if the local governments want to renew, 

it requires:

 Passage of a local Act calling for the reimposition of the tax

 A new IGA between the county and eligible number of 

cities

 A new referendum to approve the tax by the voters

 Talk to your local delegation!

How are Funds From the New Sales Tax 
Used?

 Funds must be used exclusively for property tax relief

 Each taxpayer’s property tax bill shall state the amount by which property tax has been 

reduced because of the imposition of this tax.

 The roll-back rate shall be reduced annually by the millage equivalent of the net proceeds 

of this new tax received by the political subdivision during the prior taxable year.  

 If any political subdivision is not in compliance with the use of the proceeds from this tax, 

then the State Revenue Commissioner shall not certify the tax digest of that political 

subdivision until it comes into compliance.    

128



1/2/2025

14

HB 581
Part 3: Procedural Property Tax Changes

• Created an “estimated roll-back rate” which is 
certified to the tax commissioner/collector by the 
local governments. 

• The estimated roll-back rate is required to be 
included on the assessment notice, replacing 
the previous year’s millage rate.
• Designed to attempt to allow local 

government to give more accurate estimate 
of what tax liability will be.

HB 581
Part 3: Procedural Property Tax Changes
• This gives local governments broad flexibility to set this rate wherever 

they deem appropriate
• This does not need to be the same millage rate as the rollback rate for 

taxpayer bill of rights
• If the adopted millage rate exceeds the estimated roll-back rate, then a 

disclaimer is included on the tax bill stating the name of the governing 
authority that exceeded the estimated roll-back rate and that this will 
result in an increase of taxes owed. 

129



1/2/2025

15

HB 581
Part 3: Procedural Property Tax Changes

 Removed the provision that the sale price is the maximum allowable fair 

market value in the next taxable year.  

 This provision caused the Department of Audits and Accounts (DOAA) to 

change their sales ratio study methodology when it was originally passed 

in 2010, so this change will improve the sales ratio study and prevent 

penalties on local governments and their taxpayers.  

 This legislation also allows the Board of Assessors to appeal the sales ratio 

study directly instead of requiring a local government to appeal on their 

behalf.      

HB 581
Part 3: Procedural Property Tax Changes

• Modifying the three-year lock for appeals so the taxpayer only receives the lock if 

they receive a value reduction upon appeal. 

• Updating the settlement conference statute so that if neither the taxpayer nor their 

representative participates in good faith, then the taxpayer shall not receive the 

benefit of the temporary 15 percent reduction in taxes owed and shall not be 

awarded attorney’s fees.

• Requiring that the chief appraiser ensure that every parcel in the county be 

appraised at least every three years.      

130



1/2/2025

16

Policy Considerations for Local Governments

• As with any other local government choice, this is a policy decision with 

pros and cons to be considered.  

• The floating homestead exemption rewards homeowners, especially those 

that reside in the community for a long period of time after this legislation 

takes effect.  

• Taxes do not disappear – they only shift: in this instance, the taxes are 

shifting from homestead properties to all other property types (commercial, 

agricultural, industrial, residential non-homestead).  

Policy Considerations for Local Governments

• Taxation is a formula: taxable value multiplied by the millage rate gives the 

property tax revenue to meet local budgets.  

• Since the floating homestead exemption slows the growth in value for 

residential homestead properties, it will create some upward pressure on 

the millage rate.  The effects of a floating homestead increase over time, 

so this will have a smaller impact in the early years and a larger impact in 

the later years.  

• Counties and cities may more easily increase the millage rate if needed than 

schools due to the 20-mill cap, which may only be exceeded after the 

successful passage of a local referendum.  

131



1/2/2025

17

Other Local Government Considerations

• Each local government (counties, cities, and schools) may independently 

decide whether to opt out.

• This decision does not impact the homestead exemptions but cities and 

counties can impact eligibility for the FLOST.

• Every local government has a unique digest mix of property types.  Local 

officials are encouraged to contact their Chief Appraiser for information 

regarding their specific situation.  Some communities will better be able to 

support a floating homestead exemption than others.  

Other Local Government Considerations

• The referendum is likely to be very popular and citizens may not understand 

a local government’s decision. 

• Even if your local government decides to opt out of the HB 581 floating 

homestead exemption, nothing precludes your local delegation of the 

General Assembly from passing a local Act putting a local floating 

homestead to referendum in your jurisdiction. 

• If a local government decides to opt out, it may be best practice to explain 

this decision to the public and the local delegation.

132



1/2/2025

18

Other Local Government Considerations

• Many jurisdictions have existing floating homestead exemptions.  These 

typically apply only to M&O millage rates, but not to special service districts 

(SSDs).  

• The HB 581 floating homestead exemption applies to special service 

districts in addition to M&O but does not apply to bond millage.

• If a local government that has a floating homestead exemption already 

in place does not opt out, then their special service districts will be 

affected by the new floating homestead exemption. 

• A local government may consider opting out to avoid confusion.  

Other Local Government Considerations

• While the decision to opt out of the floating homestead exemption is 

independent, instituting the new sales tax requires collaboration between the 

county and cities.

• The county and all cities in the county that levy a property tax must have a 

base year homestead exemption in place (statewide or through a local Act).

• The county and cities should discuss the option of the sales tax before 

expiration of the opt out period.

• Know the distribution is determined by the IGA, so this should be discussed 

early.

• A local Act is required for renewal, so involve your local delegation.

133



1/2/2025

19

Next Steps….

• Joint ACCG-GMA Webinar 
Oct. 16th (live and recorded).

• This will be the same 
presentation

• Joint Guidance 
Document/FAQ released 
today!

• Document on GMA’s Website
• Link to ACCG HB 581 page:

• ACCG Advancing Georgia's Counties

Contact Us

Ryan Bowersox
Assistant General Counsel, GMA

rbowersox@gacities.com

Dante Handel
Associate Director of Governmental Affairs, ACCG

Dhandel@accg.org

134



 

  

HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 
The Local Opt-out Floating Homestead Exemption  

& 
 Floating Local Option Sales Tax (FLOST) 

 

House Bill 581 was passed by the Georgia General Assembly during the 2024 legislative session 
and was signed into law by Governor Kemp on April 18, 2024. 

HB 581 provides for several significant changes impacting local government revenue. Counties and 
cities must understand these changes and be prepared to make critical decisions in the coming 
months that will have lasting impacts. In general, HB 581 has three major components: first, the bill 
provides for some procedural changes to property tax assessments and appeals; second, the bill 
provides for a new statewide homestead exemption that applies to local governments unless the 
local government affirmatively opts out; third, the bill creates a new local option sales tax available 
to be used for property tax relief. 

This document provides frequently asked questions (FAQs) to give an overview of the key provisions 
of the bill, the statewide homestead exemption and new local option sales tax, and the 
considerations local governments must have in mind. Appendix A then includes an outline of these 
key provisions to help guide local decision making. 

 

A. Generally 
 

1. In a nutshell, what is HB 581 (2024) about? 

HB 581 contains multiple provisions related to property tax and sales tax.  Most relevant to this 
FAQ, the bill: 

a. Grants a statewide homestead exemption that limits the increases in the taxable value 
of homes to no more than the inflation rate that occurred over the prior year; 

b. Allows local governments to elect to opt out of this homestead exemption within their 
jurisdiction so that it will not apply to their taxable values; and 

c. Authorizes most local governments with the new homestead exemption (or equivalent) 
to levy a new sales tax to be used for property tax relief. 

135

https://www.legis.ga.gov/legislation/64811


 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

2 
 

 
2. Where did this proposal come from and what was the reason?  

Entering the 2024 legislative session, many legislators were concerned with the rapid rise in 
property values across the state, and in turn, the rise in property taxes. The homestead exemption 
proposal came from the General Assembly and was first introduced in the Senate.  The reason was 
to provide more certainty to homeowners who are concerned about the significant increases to the 
taxable value of homes in recent years.  Under this bill, if the local government does not opt out, 
then the homeowner knows their value may not increase by more than the rate of inflation, which 
prevents large jumps and helps them budget.  

The sales tax provision (FLOST) came from the House and was originally designed as a flexible new 
sales tax to act in place of sales tax laws written to apply to only one jurisdiction, such as that for 
the Coliseum SPLOST for Augusta-Richmond County; however, it changed throughout the 
legislative process to become a method to reduce millage rates imposed on all properties 
(homestead and non-homestead). 

 
B. The Homestead Exemption of HB 581 

 
1. What type of homestead exemption does HB 581 provide?  Is there a difference between 

floating, base-year, adjusted base-year, and frozen homestead exemptions? 

The core purpose of any base-year, floating, or frozen homestead exemption is to reduce or 
eliminate the tax impact of increases in the fair market value of a homesteaded property that occur 
following the purchase of a home.  The terms are generally synonymous and used to describe either 
the practical or technical effect of the exemption.  The key difference is whether such an exemption 
allows for adjustments to the base year value based on a standard rate or the inflation rate. 

For a base-year, floating, or frozen homestead exemption without an adjustment factor, the value 
of the exemption changes or floats each year to always equal and exempt the full difference 
between the base-year value of the home and the current value of the home, so that the taxable 
value of the home never increases (but the millage rate may still increase).  These are most often 
called frozen exemptions because the assessed value of the home is blocked from increasing (and 
often, from decreasing). 

For a base-year, floating, or frozen homestead exemption with an adjustment factor, the base year 
and the base year value for a homestead does not change, but the base year value is adjusted 
annually by a percentage equal to either a set rate or the inflation rate that occurred during the prior 
year.  These are best called adjusted base-year homestead exemptions. 

In the case of HB 581, practically speaking, the homestead exemption limits the amount of any 
increase in the assessed value of homes to no more than the rate of inflation experienced over the 
prior year—it does not freeze the value.  This is best described as an adjusted base-year homestead 
exemption, because it grants an exemption equal to the difference between the homestead’s 
adjusted base-year value—generally the value for the year prior to the homeowner’s application for 
the exemption plus an inflation factor for each year since the exemption was first granted—and the 
current year’s true value.  

136



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

3 
 

It is important to note that most of these homestead exemptions do account for substantial 
changes in the property.  For example, if a homeowner doubles the size of their house, then the 
base-year value may be increased, regardless of any freeze or limitation, but thereafter, the new 
base-year value enjoys the benefit of the exemption. Also important to note, these exemptions do 
not stay with the property nor the property owner when a change in ownership occurs. If an 
individual sells their home, the taxable value of that home resets to fair market value for the next 
owner. Similarly, the individual cannot carry the value of the exemption to their new home.  

 
2. How is the value of the HB 581 homestead exemption determined?  

The value of the exemption is unique to each individual property and will generally change each 
year for such properties.  The core purpose of a base-year or floating homestead exemption is to 
reduce or eliminate the impact of increases to the fair market value of a homestead.  In the case of 
HB 581, the homestead exemption prevents rapid increases in the assessed value of homes but 
does not freeze the value.  

HB 581 is considered an adjusted base-year homestead exemption, because it allows the 
homestead’s base-year value to increase annually by up to the inflation rate determined by the 
State Revenue Commissioner (likely the consumer price index) which occurred during the prior 
year.  The value of the exemption is the difference between the adjusted base-year value and the 
fair market value.  Even if two properties begin with identical base year values, if the fair market 
value of the properties diverge over time, then the property with the higher fair market value will 
receive the larger exemption while potentially paying the same in property taxes.  

 

3. If my local government wants to opt out of the HB 581 homestead exemption, how can we 
do that?  

As authorized through a constitutional amendment (HR 1022 (2024)) and outlined in HB 581, the 
opt-out process is very similar to the “public notification of tax increase” process that is required 
when a local government does not fully rollback its millage rate.  The local government seeking to 
opt out of the HB 581 homestead exemption must advertise and hold three public hearings of intent 
to opt out, and then pass a resolution opting out and file it with the Secretary of State.  The process 
may not begin until the effective date of the bill on January 1, 2025, and must be completed by 
March 1, 2025.  Each local government (county, city, school) may independently make the decision 
whether to opt out; any combination may elect to do nothing or opt out of the HB 581 floating 
homestead exemption. If a local government opts out, its taxpayers will not receive the benefit of 
the exemption, and their property will be taxed (absent other exemptions) at the property’s fair 
market value.  

 
4. Should my local government opt out of the homestead exemption if we already have 

another form of a floating, base-year, or frozen homestead exemption?   

There are at least a few things to consider when answering this question for your jurisdiction. 

First, how far does your current floating homestead exemption extend?  Does it cover all millage 
rates, including those for special districts?  The reason that this is important to answer is that the 
HB 581 homestead exemption extends to all millage levies except for any bond levies.   

137



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

4 
 

Second, does your current homestead exemption incorporate any form of inflationary or automatic 
increase?  The value of the HB 581 homestead exemption for each homeowner is, in effect, reduced 
annually by the amount of inflation that occurred over the prior year, which allows the taxable value 
of the homestead to rise over time in-line with inflation.  If your jurisdiction has a set rise over time 
that is expected to exceed the inflation factor in HB 581, then your jurisdiction may want to opt out. 

Third, if the homestead exemptions are equivalent, you may want to consider opting out of the HB 
581 floating homestead exemption to reduce confusion.  Your jurisdiction would still have access to 
the new sales tax for property tax relief (FLOST) assuming all the conditions to impose the tax are 
met.    
 

5. Does the HB 581 homestead exemption apply to community improvement districts 
(CIDs)? 

For all practical purposes, the homestead exemptions would not apply to CID’s as CID’s may only 
levy taxes on nonresidential property.  Ga. Const. Art. IX, Sec. VII, Para. III(c). 
 

6. How does the HB 581 homestead exemption affect tax allocation districts (TADs)? 

The homestead exemption could potentially reduce the amount of expected property tax revenue 
growth within the TAD by limiting the assessed value increase of homestead property over time.  
This question requires analysis specific to the TAD in question.  

 
7. Can the HB 581 floating homestead exemption be later repealed for my county or city?  

If a jurisdiction elects not to opt out of the HB 581 homestead exemption, they will not have an 
opportunity to opt out in the future and will have the homestead exemption permanently.  There 
may be a method to remove such jurisdictions in the future, but it would require a change to general 
law or a constitutional amendment done by the legislature.  

 
8. Will the HB 581 homestead exemption affect a homeowner’s existing homestead 

exemptions?   

HB 581 does not eliminate any existing homestead exemptions for any jurisdiction, regardless of 
the type of homestead exemption, but it may override existing floating, base-year, and frozen 
exemptions, if the HB 581 exemption provides a greater benefit to the taxpayer. 

a. If your local government has an existing non-floating homestead exemption, such as an 
exemption for $5,000 of assessed value, that will be unaffected by HB 581.  The floating 
homestead exemption is calculated first, and then the non-floating exemptions are 
calculated on the back end.  That said, if the existing, non-floating local homestead 
exemption says that it may not be applied in addition to any other homestead exemption, 
then it may not be applied. 
 

b. If your local government has an existing base-year homestead exemption, then the taxpayer 
will receive whichever provides them with the largest benefit in any given year.  Your tax 
assessor’s office will be responsible for tracking both floating homestead exemption values 
in addition to the fair market value.   
 

138



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

5 
 

For example, if there is an existing base-year or floating homestead exemption that does not 
have inflationary increases, then it would generally provide the larger benefit to the 
taxpayer.  Similarly, if the base-year of a homestead exemption that is comparable to HB 
581 pre-dates HB 581’s base-year, then the older base year will likely provide the larger 
benefit. 
 

9. Will it affect the county’s ability to impose a FLOST if another city opts out of the 
homestead exemption granted by HB 581?   

Yes, if a city that imposes a property tax opts out, then the county and all cities within the county 
will be ineligible for the FLOST. If a city that does not levy a property tax opts out, then it would not 
affect the ability for the county to levy a FLOST.  If even one city that opts out does levy a property 
tax at such time, then the FLOST would not be permitted. Of course, jurisdictions may opt out and 
not impact eligibility if the jurisdiction has another eligible homestead exemption in place.  
 
 

10. If the county opts out of the homestead exemption will this impact a municipality’s ability 
to impose a FLOST? 

Yes. Similarly, if a county opts out all municipalities in the county will be ineligible for the FLOST 
unless the county has another eligible homestead exemption in place.  
 
 

11. If a municipality or a county opts out of the HB 581 homestead exemption will 
homesteads have multiple assessed values for tax assessment? 

Yes, if the homestead exemption applies for some but not all jurisdictions, the taxable value of the 
property will essentially be different. The fair market value of a property is the same for all taxing 
jurisdictions where the property is subject to property tax.  Homestead exemptions are applied 
after the fair market value of the home is determined and reduce the taxable value of the home—
the taxable value may be different among jurisdictions based on applicable homestead 
exemptions.  

Every county assessor’s office is required to maintain a set of books with the fair market value of the 
property.  The assessor’s office will be required to maintain two or more sets of values if there are 
one or more floating homestead exemptions.   Each homestead may have a different base-year 
value across multiple jurisdictions, but this will be tracked by the assessor’s office. 

 

12. For a home that has an exemption under HB 581, what happens if the home is 
substantially improved or is destroyed?  How are changes to the home’s value that do not 
result from market forces handled?  

Substantial changes to the property are considered when assessing the property.  Any substantial 
change will increase or decrease the adjusted base year value of the home.   

Example:  The adjusted base year value of a home as of January 1, 2028, was $500k.  During 2028, 
the homeowner doubles the square-footage of her home and adds a swimming pool.  As of January 
1, 2029, the tax officials for the county determine that the changes to the home increase the value 
by $200k.  The adjusted base year value for the 2029 tax year = $500k (the 2028 ABYV) + $200k 
(substantial change value) + any applicable inflation factor. 

139



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

6 
 

 

13. If my local government opts out of the floating homestead under HB 581, can we opt in at 
a later date?  

If your local government opts out, there is no future opportunity for the local government to 
unilaterally opt-in or rejoin the HB 581 exemption.   

However ,a local government may still obtain a similar homestead exemption in a  traditional 
manner.   The General Assembly may pass a local Act creating an equivalent local floating 
homestead exemption.  This would require 2/3’s vote in the General Assembly and a local 
referendum.  The General Assembly may do this against the will of the local government.  We 
encourage you to maintain a dialogue with your local legislators, especially if you intend to opt 
out.     

 

14. If my local government opts out of the HB 581 floating homestead exemption and our 
legislative delegation disagrees with that decision, can they take action to mandate the 
floating homestead exemption on my local government? 

If your local government opts out of the HB 581 floating homestead exemption and your legislative 
delegation disagrees with that decision, your local delegation can pass a local Act to impose a 
floating homestead exemption within the jurisdiction. HB 581 has not changed the ability of the 
legislature to create specific homestead exemptions for local governments. This local Act would be 
subject to 2/3 vote in the General Assembly and approval by the voters in a local referendum. If the 
referendum is successful, then your local government would be subject to the homestead 
exemption provided for in the local Act, even though you opted out of the HB 581 exemption.   

Note:  A local government could elect to opt out of the HB 581 exemption and ask their local 
delegation to proceed with a more customized version of the homestead exemption. 

 

15. Can the floating homestead exemption be transferred to a new owner of the home?   

No, the homestead exemption is not portable or transferable—it is tied both to the property owner 
and the home.  However, in the case of a surviving spouse who was not on the deed at the time of 
their spouse’s death, said surviving spouse may continue the homestead exemption in the same 
manner as the deceased spouse, provided that the surviving spouse is otherwise eligible for the 
homestead exemption.   

For anyone else that acquires the home as a homestead, the base-year and base-year value will be 
reset to the year prior to the person’s acquisition of the home and to the actual value for the home 
for such prior year. 

 

16. How much land can be included in a qualified floating homestead exemption? 

Georgia state law states that the homestead exemption applies to the homestead and the land 
immediately surrounding the homestead; there is no specification for acreage.  Many local 
homestead exemptions do limit the total acreage.  It is likely up to local interpretation as to what 

140



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

7 
 

land constitutes the land “immediately surrounding” the homestead.  The exemption would not 
include buildings or structures on the property, which are not part of the homestead dwelling, itself. 

 

17. Does the HB 581 floating homestead exemption apply to special service districts? 

Yes, the HB 581 floating homestead exemption applies to all millage rates except for millage rates 
to retire bonded indebtedness.   

Point to consider:  If the local government has an existing floating homestead exemption that does 
not apply to special service districts, then you may want to consider opting out, so your special 
service district millage levies are unaffected. 

 

18. If a homeowner’s assessed value was locked following their appeal to the Board of 
Equalization in 2022, would that value be used for the 2024 base year for the purposes of 
the HB 581 exemption? 

The homestead’s final assessed value for the base year is the base year value for the purposes of 
the HB 581 exemption.  Code Section 48-5-44.2(a)(3)(A).  Accordingly, if the locked assessed value 
from 2022 is what was lawfully used as the homestead’s final assessed value for 2024, then that 
taxpayer would have their HB 581 2024 base year assessed value set at that same amount.    

 

19. Will the market value or the adjusted base year value be used when calculating value 
increases to the tax digest that are factored into the rollback millage rate that cannot be 
exceeded without advertising a tax increase? 

The digest value for rollback purposes utilizes the net taxable digest, which is the value of the digest 
after exemptions are accounted for. 

  

141



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

8 
 

 

C. The Floating Local Option Sales Tax (FLOST) 

 

1. Generally, what is the FLOST? 

The Floating Local Option Sales Tax or FLOST (named for its relation to the floating homestead 
exemption) is a new sales tax that can be levied up to 1 percent and collected county-wide. Funds 
are split between the county and cities based upon an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) and used 
for property tax relief.  

 

2. What are the minimum requirements for a given county or municipality to be eligible to 
levy a FLOST? 

a. The county or municipality must levy a property tax and have a base-year or floating 
homestead exemption in effect1;  

b. All other municipalities within the county that currently levy a property tax must also 
have a base-year or floating homestead exemption in effect2;  

c. The county or municipality must have available room under the overall sales tax cap3; 
d. The county and the applicable number of municipalities must enter into an 

intergovernmental agreement as required under Code Section 48-8-109.31(d)(1)(B); 
e. Hold a successful local referendum4; and 
f. Utilize the proceeds for property tax relief and in accordance with the IGA5.  

 

3. Who must sign the intergovernmental agreement to authorize the referendum for the 
FLOST?  

The county must reach an intergovernmental agreement with municipalities levying a property tax 
that represent at least 50% of the total municipal population within the county. This minimum 
requirement does not preclude more municipalities than those representing 50% of the municipal 
population from signing the IGA if all parties agree.6   

Any municipality that does not sign the IGA is treated as an ‘absent municipality’ and will receive 
proceeds from the FLOST based upon the size of its population relative to the total municipal 
population within the county, excluding any municipalities that do not levy a property 
tax.  Municipalities that do not levy a property tax are excluded from the calculations and from 
sharing in FLOST revenues.7    

 
1 Code Section 48-8-109.31(d)(1)(A). 
2 Code Section 48-8-109.31(d)(1)(A). 
3 Code Section 48-8-6(a). 
4 Code Section 48-8-109.32. 
5 Code Section 48-8-109.42. 
6 Code Section 48-8-109.31(d)(1)(A). 
7 Code Section 48-8-109.31(d)(2). 

142



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

9 
 

 

4. What must an IGA to levy FLOST include?  
 
a. The rate of the tax: incremental in .05% increments up to a full 1.0%; 
b. The duration of the tax:  up to 58 years;  
c. Provisions for calling the referendum for the tax, including the question for the ballot; 
d. The distribution schedule9 apportioning proceeds among: 

i. County 
ii. Municipalities 

iii. Absent Municipalities 
e. The IGA is not required to specify how property tax relief is to be applied but may do so. 

 
5. How is the sales tax referendum scheduled?   

First, there must be a valid intergovernmental agreement between the county and cities specifying 
the distribution of the tax.  Next, the county may call for the sales tax referendum similar to other 
sales tax referenda.10    

 
6. Is a local referendum necessary to impose the FLOST even if the ballot measure in 

November is successful? 

Yes. It is important to note that the ballot question in November of 2024 proposes a constitutional 
amendment which enables the homestead exemption. If this amendment is not approved, all of HB 
581 (including the FLOST) is repealed. If the constitutional amendment is approved, a subsequent 
referendum within the county is still required to levy the FLOST. Counties and cities should be 
mindful that the FLOST must be approved by voters in the county to be levied when making policy 
decisions concerning the homestead exemption.  

 

7. Does FLOST revenue affect the rollback millage rate that is calculated for the purposes of 
Code Section 45-5-32.1 (Taxpayer Bill of Rights), which requires the advertising of a 
property tax increase, if exceeded?  

Yes.  Unlike LOST, the total amount of FLOST collected in the preceding calendar year must be 
subtracted from the millage equivalent calculated to provide the jurisdiction with the same net 
proceeds from the current year’s net taxable digest value as those derived from the previous year’s 
millage rate when multiplied by the previous year’s net taxable digest value.   

 

 

 

 

 
8 Code Section 48-8-109.32(a). 
9 Code Section 48-8-109.36(2). 
10 Code Section 48-8-109.32. 

143



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

10 
 

8. What can the FLOST revenues be used for?   

FLOST revenue must be used for property tax relief. Per Code Section 48-8-109.42, FLOST revenues: 

• “[S]hall be used exclusively for tax relief and in conjunction with all limitations provided in 
the intergovernmental agreement authorizing the tax for such political subdivision.”   

• Additionally: 
o “Each taxpayer's ad valorem tax bill shall clearly state the dollar amount by which 

the property tax has been reduced as a result of the imposition of the tax imposed 
under this article”; and 

o “The roll-back rate for the political subdivision, which is calculated under Code 
Section 48-5-32.1 [Taxpayer Bill of Rights], shall be reduced annually by the millage 
equivalent of the net proceeds of the tax authorized under this article, which 
proceeds were received by the political subdivision during the prior taxable year.” 

 

9. In what ways may the local government calculate and apply the FLOST property tax relief 
to the property tax bill? 

Outside of the parameters in Code Section 48-8-109.42, jurisdictions have latitude to apply the 
funds for legal purposes within the special district and as may be provided for in the 
intergovernmental agreement.   

• The tax relief must be applied uniformly across all forms of tangible property within the 
given taxing jurisdiction for which it applies.  For these purposes, taxing jurisdictions for 
which property tax relief may be granted can be the county, a municipality, or a special 
district, provided that the application is uniform within the given taxing jurisdiction.   

• When the credit or reduction is shown on the taxpayer’s property tax bill, it MUST be applied 
as property tax relief, which would be a reduction in a charge that is assessed and levied 
upon the value of a property.  The credit cannot reduce any charge or fee, which is not levied 
upon the value of the property (ad valorem). If a flat dollar amount is shown on the property 
tax bill, said dollar amount must be derived from the taxpayer’s savings from the reduction 
in the millage rate or assessed value. 

• While not required, the best practice is to include within the required IGA exactly how the 
proceeds of the FLOST will be applied as property tax relief. 

 

10. What types of communities would benefit most from a FLOST?  

Communities that wish to supplant property taxes with sales tax would benefit from FLOST.  It is a 
policy decision that would be expected to shift some of the tax burden imposed on the local 
government’s property owners to those who make purchases within such jurisdiction.  Accordingly, 
communities with sales tax revenues derived disproportionately from those living outside of the 
local government’s jurisdiction would expect to see a net benefit for its property owners by shifting 
the tax burden to consumers; whereas those communities that have disproportionately few 
property owners among its many resident consumers would find only a shifting of the tax burden 
within the jurisdiction.    

144



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

11 
 

  

11. How often does the FLOST have to be voted on?  

FLOST may be implemented for up to 5 years at a time, so at least every 5 years.  Moreover, all 
FLOST renewals require a local Act of the General Assembly, so there is no renewal without a local 
Act and a new IGA, and passage in a local referendum.11 While there is no requirement of a local Act 
to initially levy the FLOST any subsequent renewal does require a local Act from the General 
Assembly.    

   

12. My county doesn’t have a LOST. How will this affect my county, city, etc.?  

Having a LOST is not a requirement for the FLOST.  LOST is the most similar sales tax to the FLOST, 
but the way property tax relief is calculated under FLOST is more flexible than LOST. 

 

13. Does this bill require the Department of Revenue to provide point-of-sale information?  

This bill does not require DOR to provide point of sale information but does require such 
information to be furnished to DOR by the retail establishments that are required to collect the 
tax.  All sales for FLOST occur countywide (within the special district which is conterminous with 
the boundaries of the county), except in the case of a county containing a municipality that levies 
the Water and Sewer Projects Cost Tax (MOST), in which case the FLOST is not collected within the 
boundaries of the MOST city.    

  

14. Are Water and Sewer Projects Cost Tax (MOST) cities ineligible for a FLOST?  

Yes, the cities that levy a MOST tax are ineligible to levy or receive proceeds from FLOST.  This 
means that they are not counted when determining the municipal population in the county levying 
the LOST, the city levying the MOST cannot share in the proceeds of the FLOST, and the FLOST may 
not be levied within the municipal boundaries of the city levying the MOST.    

Currently, the MOST cities are: Atlanta, East Point, College Park, and Hapeville. 

 

15. If the school board opts out of the floating homestead exemption, can the county and 
municipalities still levy the FLOST tax?  

Yes, if the school board opts out, you can still levy the tax assuming all other requirements are 
met.  Schools generally cannot receive revenues from sales taxes other than those authorized by 
the Constitution (ESPLOST) and certain existing Local Constitutional Amendments (ELOSTs), so it 
would require such a constitutional amendment specifically authorizing or requiring that school 
districts receive a share in the FLOST. 

  

 
11 Code Section 48-8-109.33(c) 

145



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

12 
 

 

16. If my jurisdiction opts out of the HB 581 floating homestead exemption and has an existing 
base-year or floating homestead exemption, but which only applies to the general 
maintenance and operations (M&O) levy, would my jurisdiction be blocked from 
participating in the FLOST? 

No, not on that basis alone.  If your local government has an existing floating or base-year 
homestead exemption of any kind, you may still qualify for the FLOST, even if you opt out of the HB 
581 floating homestead exemption.  HB 581 only requires that you have some form of a base-year 
or floating homestead exemption to participate in FLOST.  Such exemption can either be a local 
floating homestead exemption (predating HB 581 or added after) or the HB 581 floating homestead 
exemption.  Please note that the HB 581 floating homestead exemption will apply to all levies, 
including special service districts, except for bonded indebtedness.      

 

17. If my county or city decides to opt of the homestead exemption, is it forever ineligible to 
levy the FLOST? 

No. First, your city or county may already have a homestead exemption in place making them 
eligible for the FLOST. Second, if there is no homestead exemption in place and your county or city 
opts out, it can once again become eligible to levy the FLOST in the future through a subsequent 
eligible homestead exemption put in place by a local Act of the General Assembly.  

 

18. What happens if we pass a FLOST and our legislative delegation does not approve the 
renewal, or the voters do not renew it? 

If you pass a FLOST and your legislative delegation does not approve the renewal or the voters do 
not renew it, then the most likely outcome is an increase in the applicable millage rates.  Since 
FLOST is sales tax being used to offset property tax, if the FLOST expires, the local government will 
have to cut expenses, raise property taxes, or some combination thereof.   

 

19. If my county has an ELOST, can we utilize the FLOST? 

If your county has an ELOST, the availability of FLOST depends on a few factors: 

a. Does the exact verbiage of the local constitutional amendment (LCA) limit the 
distribution of proceeds in the way that FLOST requires?    Some of the LCAs are very 
permissive, and others are very restrictive.  Please consult with your local jurisdiction’s 
attorney for a legal opinion.   

b. Is the jurisdiction otherwise eligible to levy a FLOST? 
c. Does the jurisdiction have sufficient room under its local sales tax cap to levy a FLOST?  

See Code Section 48-8-6(a). 

ELOST Counties: Bulloch County; Chattooga County ( and Trion City); Colquitt County; Habersham 
County; Houston County; Mitchell County ( and Pelham City); Rabun County; Towns County. 

 

146



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

13 
 

Appendix A: HB 581 - Timeline/Decision Tree 

1) November 5, 2024: Statewide ballot measure determining approval of constitutional 
amendment enabling homestead exemption. 
a) If the ballot question is not approved, HB 581 is repealed in its entirety. No further 

action is needed by local governments. All other property tax changes and the 
FLOST are repealed as well.  

b) If the ballot question is approved, counties, cities, and school boards may 
independently determine whether they would like to “opt out” of the homestead 
exemption and not have the exemption apply to their homeowners. 

2) Beginning January 1, 2025 through March 1, 2025, local governments may “opt out” and 
not have their homeowners receive the HB 581 floating homestead exemption. 
a) If the local government decides not to “opt out” no action is required by the local 

government and the homestead exemption will go into effect. 
i) The HB 581 homestead exemption does not replace existing locally enacted 

homestead exemptions. 
(1)  If your local government has an existing flat dollar homestead exemption, 

the 581 exemption will be in addition to that exemption. 
(2) If your local government has an existing base year or adjusted base year 

exemption, the taxpayer will receive the more beneficial exemption. 
b)  If your local government decides to opt out, it must advertise and hold three public 

hearings of intent to opt out, and then pass a resolution opting out and file it with the 
Secretary of State by March 1, 2025. 

3) If the November 2024 ballot question is approved, your county or city may decide 
whether to levy a FLOST for property tax relief. You must determine if you are eligible for 
the FLOST. 
a) If your county/city does not levy a property tax, you are not eligible to 

levy/participate in the FLOST. 
b) If you levy a property tax: 

i) Your county/city must have a base year or adjusted base year homestead 
exemption in place. 

*This may either be the homestead exemption provided by HB 581 or an 
existing base year or adjusted base year homestead exemption created by a 
local Act. 

ii) The county and every municipality in the county that levies a property tax must 
also have a base year or adjusted base year homestead exemption in place (HB 
581 or existing). 

iii) If the county or any city that levies a property tax does not have an eligible homestead 
exemption in place, the county and all cities within are not eligible for the FLOST. 

147



 HB 581 (2024): Frequently Asked Questions Document 

 

14 
 

c) If the eligibility criteria is met: 
i) The county and city or cities representing at least 50% of the municipal population of 

cities levying a property tax must sign an intergovernmental agreement (IGA) for the levy 
of the tax. This IGA will set the rate (up to 1%), duration (up to 5 years), distribution of 
proceeds among the county and cities, and the ballot question to be used.  

ii) The levy of the FLOST must be approved by the voters across the county in a 
referendum. 

d) The FLOST may then be levied for up to 5 years before needing to be renewed. Prior to the 
expiration of the tax a renewal requires: A local Act by the Georgia General Assembly 
approving the renewal for the jurisdiction, a subsequent IGA between the eligible county 
and cities, and a subsequent referendum for the voters to approve the renewal of the tax. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer 

This publication is for general informational purposes only. While some of the information contained in this publication is a bout legal 
issues, it is not and should not be treated as legal advice. You should consult with your legal counsel before taking action based on the 
information contained in this publication. Material posted in this publication may be subject to copyrights owned by ACCG, GM A, or 
others, and any reproduction, retransmission or republication of such material, except for personal use or with the prior written consent 
of ACCG, GMA, or other copyright owner, is prohibited. The names, trademarks, service marks, logos and other emblems of ACCG and 
GMA in this publication may not be used without ACCG’s or GMA's prior written express permission. 

148



 

Business Item 20: 

 

Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 

 

Department:   Board of Commissioners 

 

Date:   January 6, 2025 

 

 

Subject: Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings as Needed 

   

 

 

Summary:  

 

Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings as Needed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommended Motion: 

Board Discretion 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 149


	Insert from: "Public Hearing Detail 2.1  Land Division Plat, 212 W.pdf"
	Sheets and Views
	Border D-Plat


	Insert from: "Public Hearing Detail 1.1 Lake Pines Prelim Plat R8 11-26-24.pdf"
	Sheets and Views
	Prelim Plat



